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VISION
Our vision is to become a major player in the international 
market pulp industry.

Working within international compliance standards, we will 
focus on delivering high quality materials and products, 
keeping environmental responsibility and sustainability 
our top priorities across all our business operations. We 
will leverage on the experience of our management  and 
employees to further develop our presence in this region 
and  continue to seek opportunities to create value for all 
our stakeholders.
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Message from Chairman and CEO

 It is our policy to preserve natural forest with high biodiversity value 
and to exclusively use plantation wood in our mills. Believing in the close 
co-operation with the government and local community, and recognizing our 
responsibility to build the local economy is our full commitment to sustainable 
development

Sven Edström
Chairman

 The continuous enchancement of shareholders’ value is paramount. 
Seamless execution of our business plan, measured by the strengthening of 
our overall performance is how we translate our vision to become a major 
player in the international pulp market

Jaka Prasetya 
Chief Executive Officer
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Dear Shareholders

Adversity separates men from boys, and ladies from girls. 
 
What a year 2008 had been. The year witnessed oil prices soaring up to 
US$150 and then freefalling to below US$40 per barrel. The economy that 
seemed to hold up during the first half of the year despite the deteriorating 
credit markets, started tumbling down with the collapse of major financial 
institutions in the US. Market confidence disappeared and global economic 
activities massively contracted. 2008 seemed a year most people want 
to forget.
 
But it was not all bad.

From a number’s perspective, 2008 was an unusual year for Unifiber. 
The Group’s revenue grew by 37.2% to US$114 million thanks 
to the increasing activities across the businesses of Unifiber. The 
bottom-line however, was a significant book loss of US$67 million, mainly 
attributed to the marking-to-market requirement. The Group in 2008 
recorded an unrealized loss arising from a write down in the fair value 
of the forest asset after the evaluation exercise by Poyry Forest Industries 
resulting in an estimated value of US$189 million, or some US$60 million 
decrease from the value prescribed for the forest asset in the previous 
year. Although this loss was in line with the overall correction in market 
valuations, it was non-cash in nature and hence had no material impact 
on the 2008 cashflow.

In the beginning of 2008, the pulp market was relatively strong with prices 
of pulp reaching US$800 per ton. The global economic downturn during 
the year lowered drastically the demand for paper and consequentially 
pulp prices fell to around US$350 – a level that has not been seen for 
many years. As a result, a significant number of pulp and paper facilities 
around the world shut down their operations. In 2008, we were able to 
continuously operate our chip mill and completed shipments to markets 
such as China, Japan and Korea throughout the year, despite the much lower 
volume than previously anticipated, thanks to the low cost environment 
that we operate in and our control over our raw materials. The fact that 
we are among the few groups that can sustain the current difficult market 
confirms our strong fundamental to succeed in the long run.

The picture was bright for our construction business in Singapore. Our 
business recorded order an book of S$434 million by end 2008, some 22% 
increase from the level when we started the year. Thanks to the quality 
of our order book, projects progressed relatively smoothly all through 
2008 and generated a record construction revenue of S$149.9 million 
(or US$103.6 million). The addition of good quality and large contract 
value such as the S$202 million Green Meadows @ Pierce contract from 
UOL was a testament to our status as one of the preferred construction 
companies in Singapore. 

2009 began with uncertainty remained high and challenges significant.

In Unifiber, we strongly believe that the key to success lies in our ability 
to continue exploiting our strengths and dealing with challenges we are 
facing. Our strong fundamentals support our case to become a major 
player in the international market pulp industry. We continue to believe, 
that our vast plantations of fast growing trees with excellent wood quality 
for the production of pulp continues to position us well among the future 
winners in the pulp and paper industry. The pulpwood we produce in 
an environmentally responsible way is a scarce raw material and our 
production costs are among the lowest in the world.

In 2009, our focus will be on further improving our fundamentals. This 
mean operational efficiency, continued integration of our forestry and 
woodchips operations, additional plantation and continuous maintenance 
activities. We will also continue to evaluate any opportunity to expand our 
operations into pulp production.

With regards to our construction business, we see the opportunity to take 
it to the next level in 2009. We believe that our construction business 
is fundamentally strong to take advantage of the current market and 
expand its footprints into international markets, diversifying our exposure 
from Singapore property market. Focus has been put into such markets 
that offer attractive growth and healthy profit margin. The foundation of 
this venture has been put in place in 2008 and the Group is hopeful to 
be able to secure its first overseas project in 2009. The key is obviously 
how we manage our risk vis-à-vis the likely continued adverse market 
situation. We believe partnerships with prominent players in new markets 
will help us manage such risks.

On behalf of the management, we would like to extend our appreciation 
to all our stakeholders for their continued support and we look forward to 
better years ahead. 

Sincerely yours,

Sven Edström     Jaka Prasetya 
Chairman     CEO
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尊敬的股东们 

艰难困苦的时期愈能选出强者及能人。 

二零零八年是多么戏剧性的一年呵。这一年我们目睹了石油价格
飙升高达一百五十美元，然后又猛跌致低于四十美元。尽管信贷
市场的恶化，经济在今年上半年仍然稳住阵脚。随着美国金融巨
头的轰然倒塌，接踵而来的是市场信心瓦解，迅即引发了全球金
融市场的剧烈动荡。二零零八年是绝大多数人不堪回首的一年。

从数字来看，二零零八年是联合纤维系统 (Unifiber) 特殊的一
年。基于联合纤维系统整个企业日益增加的活动，该集团的销
售收入增长了37.2％，既是一亿一千四百万美元。不过底线盈
亏终究得面对六千七百万美元的的亏损，主要归因于“逐日盯
市制度”的下跌市场。另外促成这一损失的是由贝利森林工业
(Poyry) 为集团森林资产的评估的公允市价估计为一亿八千九百
万美元，比往年低于六千万美元的估价，致使集团在二零零八年
的书面上呈现出未兑现损失。尽管这一损失是符合整个市场的估
值修正，但由于是非现金性质的估值，因此并没有影响到二零零
八年的现金流转。 

二零零八年初强劲纸浆市场一度推使价格达到约每公吨八百美
元，不料在今年年底前纸制品的需求暴跌导致纸浆价格下跌至三
百五十美元水平，这极其罕见的现象使到为之不少的纸浆和纸张
厂关闭其运作。相比之下，仗着低成本的环境及靠近并容易监控
原材料的优势，联合纤维系统在二零零八年仍然能够继续运行木
片厂的操作，尽管生产量低于原先预计的量额，但我们仍然在这
一年里完成中国，日本和韩国的出口市场。事实上，我们是为数
不多仍能够在逆境中存活下来的企业，这足以证明我们强大的根
基有利于企业的长远成功。

新加坡建筑企业的前景较明朗。我们在截至二零零八年尾获得总
值四亿三千四百万美元的业务订单，相较于二零零八年的订单, 
增幅高达22%。高质量的订单及项目顺利的进展为二零零八年写
下了一亿四千九百九十万新元的建筑财政收入的纪录（或一亿零
三百六十万美元）。此外，与UOL签下高质量的二亿零两百万新

元大型合同 Green Meadows @ Piere 愈彰显出我们是新加坡建筑
业首选的建筑发展商地位。

二零零九年迎来了诸多不确定的因素及重大挑战的一年。
 
在联合纤维系统，我们坚定地认为，存亡或成败的关键在于我们
能否继续发挥我们的长处并妥善的处理我们所面临的挑战。联
合纤维系统稳固的根基使我们在国际纸浆市场占举足轻重的重
要地位。我们深信凭着广大种植生长快速的优质树木所生产的纸
浆将会让我们在未来的纸浆业成功突围，宏图大展。咎由于我们
采用对环境负责的方式且市场短缺的原料来生产纸浆，此外，我
们的生产成本亦是世界上最低的。

二零零九年的重心点将摆放在提高运营效率，继续整合我们的林
业和木片经营并投入更多的种植和持续维修活动来改善我们的
基础。与此同时，我们亦积极评估纸浆业务的商机以期投入纸浆
业的生产。

至于建筑企业，我们看到了可以把业务推向另一高峰的机会。我
们相信，集团的建筑企业基本上已足够稳固，理应趁势追击扩
大新加坡房地产市场以外的范围进入国际市场。联合纤维系统
在二零零八年已投入寻求有吸引力的增长和健康的利润率的项
目。目前，这项合资企业的基础已经到位，集团希望能够在二零
零九年获得其第一宗海外项目。在市场可能持续出现不利的形势
下如何管理风险是成败的关键性。有鉴于此，我们认为与新开发
市场的杰出伙伴合作将有助于管理这些风险。 

在此我们谨代表管理层对股东一向以来给予本集团支持致以衷
心谢意。我们期待着更好的未来。 

埃德斯伦 何良泉
主席 行政总裁
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Board of Directors

Mr. Sven Gösta Thordsson 
Edström
Non-Executive Chairman

Mr. Edström joined the Company 
on 1 June 2002 and was appointed 
Chairman and CEO on 1 October 
2002. On 14 September 2004, Mr. 
Edström relinquished his post as CEO 
and remained as Executive Chairman 
until 1 February 2007 when he was 
re-designated as Non Execut ive 
Chairman.

In accordance with Section 153(6) Act, 
Cap 50, Mr. Edström is due for re-election 
at the Company’s forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting on 24 April 2009.

Mr. Edström has more than 40 years 
of experience in the international pulp 
and paper industry. Prior to joining 
the Company, he was the President 
of Kvaerner ASA’s Representative 
Office/Kvaerner Pulp and Paper Asia 
in Jakarta, Indonesia.

Mr. Edström holds a Master of Science 
in Chemical Engineering (Pulp and 
Paper) from the Royal Institute of 
Technology (KTH), Stockholm, Sweden. 
He is a member of SPCI (The Swedish 
Assoc ia t i on  o f  Pu lp  and  Paper 
Engineers).

Mr. Chia Quee Hock, PBM
Deputy Chairman/Executive Director

Mr. Chia has been Executive Director of 
Unifiber since 1997. He was appointed 
as the Deputy Chai rman of  the 
Company in 2002. Mr. Chia is also a 
member of the Nominating Committee 
of the Company. He was last re-elected 
to the Board on 21 April 2006.

Pursuant  to  Ar t i c le  107 of  the 
Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Chia is due for re-election at the 
company’s forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting on 24 April 2009.

Mr. Chia has more than 35 years of 
working experience in the construction 
industry. 

Mr. Chia is the Honorary Patron of Pasir 
Ris East Community Club Management 
Commi t tee  and  Buk i t  Gombak 
Community Center Management 
Committee.

He is also a member of the Singapore 
Institute of Directors and sits on the 
Advisory Committee of Tampines Junior 
College.

Mr. Jaka Prasetya
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Mr. Prasetya is the CEO and Executive 
Director since 2006. Mr. Prasetya was 
last re-elected to the Board on 20 
April 2007.

Mr. Prasetya has over 8 years of 
experience in financing and project 
management. Prior to joining the 
Company, he was a Director and Head 
of Investment Banking, Indonesia with 
Deutsche Bank in Singapore. Prior 
to that, he was with the Telecom 
Investment Banking group of Merrill 
Lynch and the M&A team of UBS, both 
in Hong Kong. His other experience 
includes his role with Centre Solutions, 
the structured f inance/principal 
investment arm of Zurich Financial 
Services in Hong Kong.

Mr. Prasetya is a member of the 
S ingapore Inst i tute of  Di rectors 
and also a Commissioner and an 
Independent Director of PT Berlian Laju 
Tanker, Indonesia, a listed company in 
Singapore.

Mr. Prasetya obtained his Master of 
Business Administration - Financial 
Management  Track  f rom M . I . T. 
Sloan School of Management at 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 
USA and holds a Bachelor of Electrical 
Engineering from Institut Teknologi 
Bandung, Indonesia.

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul
Independent Director

Mr.  L im  was  re - des i gna ted  a s 
Independent Director on 26 February 
2009.

Mr. Lim has over 20 years of banking 
experience. He is the Founder and 
Director of TruPartners Asia Pte Ltd and 
is also a Consultant to Deutsche Bank, 
AG, Singapore.

Mr. Lim was the President Director 
and Head of Investment Banking of PT 
Salomon Smith Barney, Indonesia and 
also the Director of Salomon Smith 
Barney International Merchant Bankers 
Limited (Singapore).

Mr. Lim is an Independent Director and 
a member of the Audit Committee and 
Nominating Committee of Bio-Treat 
Technology Limited.

Mr. Lim obtained his Master Degree 
in Business Administration, Finance 
and Bachelor of Science in Computer 
Sc ience f rom the Un ivers i ty  of 
Wisconsin, Madison, USA. He is also a 
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA).

Mr. Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström Mr. Chia Quee Hock Mr. Jaka Prasetya Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul
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Mr. Ho Yew Yuen
Independent Director

Mr. Ho has been an Independent 
Director of the Company since 2006. 
He was also appointed as the Chairman 
of the Company’s Audit Committee and 
Nominating Committee and a member 
of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. 
Ho was last re-elected to the Board 
on 20 April 2007.

Mr. Ho has indicated that he will 
not be seeking re-election, under 
Article 107 of the Company’s Articles 
of Associations, at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting

Mr. Ho has 40 years of experience in 
the audit and assurance business with 
an international accounting firm in 
Singapore of which he was a senior 
partner for 20 years. Currently, Mr. Ho 
is the Executive Director of his own 
private consultancy firm. He is also 
an Independent Director of Techcomp 
(Holdings) Limited, a listed company 
in Singapore.

Mr. Ho is a fellow member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England & Wales, the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants and the 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
of Singapore. He is also a member of 
the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Mr. Ho Yew Yuen

Mr. Ang Mong Seng, BBM 
Independent Director

Mr. Ang has been an Independent 
Director of the Company since 1997. He 
is a member of the Audit Committee 
and Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee of the Company. Mr. Ang 
was last re-elected to the Board on 
20 April 2007.

Pursuant  to  a r t i c le  107 of  the 
Company’s Articles of Association, 
Mr. Ang is due for re-election at the 
company’s forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting on 24 April 2009.

Mr. Ang is a Member of Parliament 
for Hong Kah GRC (Bukit Gombak). 
He has over 30 years of experience 
in estate management. He is the 
Chief Operating Officer of EM Services 
Pte Ltd,  Chairman of Hong Kah 
Town Council and Vice Chairman of 
South-West Community Development 
Council.

Mr. Ang is also an Independent Director 
of Ecowise Holdings Limited, Vicplas 
International Ltd, AnnAik Ltd, Chip Eng 
Seng Corporation Limited and Hoe 
Leong Corporation Ltd. Besides being 
a member of the Audit Committees of 
these companies, Mr. Ang also serves 
as a member of the Nominating 
and Remuneration Committees in 
Chip Eng Seng Corporation Limited, 
and a member of the Nominating 
Committee and Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee in Ecowise 
Holdings Limited, Vicplas International 
Ltd, Ann Aik Ltd and Hoe Leong 
Corporation.

Mr. Ang holds a Bachelor of Arts 
degree from Nanyang University.

Mr. Ang Mong Seng

Mr. M. Rajaram
Independent Director

Mr. M. Rajaram was appointed as a 
Independent Director on 25 March 
2008. 

Mr. Rajaram is currently the Senior 
Director of Straits Law Practice LLC 
where he heads banking and corporate 
finance and the India desk. His main 
areas of works include Corporate 
Finance and Restructuring, Insolvency 
and Arbitration. He is an Advocate 
and Solicitor of the Supreme Court of 
Singapore and a Solicitor of England 
and Wales.

Mr. Rajaram is currently the Chairman 
of the Singapore Indian Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry and the 
Vice Chairman of the Singapore 
Business Federation. He is also an 
Independent Director of Hiap Seng 
Engineering Ltd.

Mr. Rajaram obtained his Master of 
Business Administration from the 
Maastricht School of Management 
and  ho ld s  a  Bache lo r  o f  L aw 
(Honours) degree from the University 
of Singapore. He is a Fellow of the 
Singapore Institute of Arbitrators and 
the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators.

Mr. M. Rajaram
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Busniness Review

Sustainable forest plantation is a solid starting 
point toward achieving vertical intergration from 
forestry to pulp business.

Our vision is to become a major player in the international market pulp industry.

We have started all pertinent business activities towards achieving vertical integration 
from forestry to pulp business within Unifiber.

Our forestry nursery has started cultivation of Acacia Mangium seedlings in 2005 
and today can produce up to 48 million seedlings per year to support replanting 
and planting of 15,000 to 20,000 hectares of trees annually. The wood chip mill has 
commenced operations in 2007 and can produce up to 700,000 bone dry tonnes of 
wood chips. This can well serve the feedstock needs of pulp and paper operators in 
the fiber shortage market.

STRONG

FUNDAMENTAL
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Business Review

HOLDING COMPANY

We were incorporated in December 1995 in the Republic of Singapore 
as Poh Lian Holdings Pte Ltd, a private limited investment holding 
company in the construction industry. In conjunction with the initial 
public offering, we subsequently converted into a public limited 
company in May 1997 and changed our name to Poh Lian Holdings 
Limited. We have been listed on the main board of the Singapore 
Stock Exchange since then.

In April 2002, our name was then changed to United Fiber System 
Limited (“Unifiber”) to reflect the new core businesses of forestry and 
pulp production.

Following the restructuring exercise in 2002, we now focus on two 
core business segments, namely (i) forestry and pulp, and (ii) property 
construction, through the following operating entities 

1. FORESTRY AND PULP DIVISION

PT Hutan Rindang Banua (“PT HRB”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
located in South Kalimantan, Indonesia. PT HRB holds a forest 
concession right of 268,585 hectares in four regions in South 
Kalimantan, Indonesia. 

Approximately 80,000 hectares of the forest concession area have 
been planted with Acacia Mangium – a fast growing leguminous 
species which can be processed into market pulp of excellent quality 
for the production of tissue and printing and writing grade papers. 
Going forward, PT HRB will continue to plant Acacia Mangium trees on 
harvested areas and on available areas within the concession.

In addition to the planting activities within its concession, PT HRB has 
been working with the local communities under its People’s Forest 
Scheme (“Hutan Rakyat”) to expand forest plantations outside its 
concession boundaries. We work together with land owners at the 
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surrounding area, to grow trees in their land. We provide all the 
materials needed such as seeds, planting tools and maintenance 
material with a return of fair share of profit from the amount of logs 
sold from the area. We have also successfully initiated, trained, and 
demonstrated the multiple benefits of growing cash crops in between 
plantations where wild grass exists. The villagers have benefited 
through the growth of seasonal cash crops such as dry rice and chili. 
This program is known as Tumpang Sari.

PT HRB also embarked on Research and Development initiatives. We 
have explored the suitability of planting other species of leguminous 
trees such as Eucalyptus Pelita, employing advanced silvicultural 
methods and techniques to further increase the yield of its plantations. 
It has mechanized its pest and disease monitoring activities. This 
strategy has the aim of ensuring that we have a sustainable supply of 
high quality wood raw material to the planned pulp mill. 

We have appointed Pöyry Forest Industry (Pöyry), a reputable 
international engineering and consulting group specializing in forestry-
based industries to conduct an in-depth valuation of the forest asset. 
Based on the valuation, using discounted cash flow methodology, the 
forest within the concession area has a fair value of approximately 
US$189.4 million as at 31 December 2008.

WOOD CHIP MILL

PT Mangium Anugerah Lestari (“PT Mangium”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary located in the village of Alle Alle, Pulau Laut, South 
Kalimantan, Indonesia, owns and operates a wood chip mill. The 
main equipment and machinery was supplied by Andritz AG, which 
is a global market leader for customized plant, systems and services 
for the pulp and paper industries. The mill is complete with jetty 
infrastructure for export purposes and is designed to produce up to 
700,000 bone dry tonnes of wood chips annually. 

PT Mangium’s raw materials come from the Acacia Mangium plantation 
trees. Its sources raw materials from a neighboring plantation and also 

supported by our own plantations tree from PT HRB. Apart from lower 
procurement costs, this arrangement provides flexibility to manage 
and reserve our forest wood supply for the future pulp mill.

Over the year, PT Mangium has made shipments to export markets 
eg. Philippines, China, Korea, Taiwan and also sold to local Indonesian 
buyers. The wood chip mill project epitomizes our technical and 
operational execution ability from inception to commercialization. The 
mill employs over 120 technical, support and administrative personnel 
to ensure efficient day to day running of the facility. Many of the 
employees are hired from the villages in the neighboring vicinity of 
the mill, hence providing employment and contributing to the local 
community.

PT Mangium’s relatively lower production costs to its competitors in 
the region, sustainable supply of wood raw materials and superior 
woodchips quality ensure the company’s ability to sustain the current 
adverse pulp and paper market situation and to succeed in the long 
run. 

PULP MILL

PT Marga Buana Bumi Mulia (“PT MBBM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
located in Satui, South Kalimantan Indonesia, holds a license to build 
and operate a bleached hardwood kraft puplmill.
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Business Review

The main equipment and machineries of the pulp mill will be supplied 
by Andritz AG, utilizing Best Available Technology (or BAT) principles to 
minimize emissions and the impact on the environment as a whole. 
The mill will have a production design capacity of 600,000 air dry 
tones of pulp per annum and will be built within the forest concession 
area held by PT HRB. 

Our strategy is to supply the bulk of the mill’s wood raw material 
requirements from our own forest concession and the balance from 
neighboring plantations in socially responsible ways to support the 
other plantations. The proximity to its raw material supply will enable 
savings on freight and transport costs, as well as ensure a highly 
reliable and sustainable supply of quality wood at all times.

On 22 February 2008, PT MBBM entered into a Turnkey Agreement 
with China MCC20 Construction Co. Ltd (“MCC20”), a subsidiary of 

China Metallurgical Group Corporation (“MCC”) for the construction 
of a bleached hardwood kraft pulp mill in South Kalimantan with 
a capacity of 600,000 air dry tonnes per annum. In addition to the 
Turnkey Agreement, pursuant to the Supplier’s Credit Agreement 
entered into by PT MBBM and MCC20 on the same date, the Company 
had also secured 75% of funds required to construct the mill in the 
form of supplier’s credit from MCC20.

Due to the adverse market situation, the discussions with regards to 
the financing of the pulp have been pending and further planning 
is expected to resume only when the overall market situation has 
improved. The Company is currently reviewing the more realistic 
timing of the launch of the project and the availability of relevant 
alternative funding sources.

�. CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

Poh Lian Construction Pte Ltd (“PLC”), has more than 20 years 
of experience in the construction industry in Singapore. PLC has 
successfully established itself as a reliable contractor with a strong track 
record and as one of the preferred high quality main contractors for 
upscale residential development given the quality of its workmanship, 
safety emphasis and standards and environmentally friendly practices. 
As a certified A1 contractor, PLC is able to tender for public sector 
projects of unlimited value.

PLC has completed many projects such as the IKEA Warehouse, 
Urbana Condominium, Beauford Condominium, Cosmopolitan and 
Condominium Buckley 18 Condominium. Other prestigious projects 
procured and under development include Newton One Condominium, 
Ardmore II Condominium, The Solitaire Condominium, The Trillium 
Condominium and Green Meadows @ Pierce Condominium. 

PLC’s corporate slogan, “Take Pride, Build It Right” exemplifies its 
holistic approach to business and human capital management. 
During the year, PLC implemented several initiatives to enhance its 
quality assurance and control systems. PLC was awarded with several 
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accolades such as the Safety Award (Gold) for inculcating the best 
safety practices at construction sites, Green Mark Gold Plus award 
or adopting environmental friendly approach to construction, Best 
Buildable Design Award (Gold) for innovative designs as well as a 
nomination for Excellent Buildable Design from numerous statutory 
authorities, including the Building and Construction Authority (BCA) 
and premier developers. PLC also received a Singapore OK certification 
for adopting hygienic and environmental friendly practices at 
construction sites. 

Going forward, PLC will continue to enhance the quality of its workforce 
by organizing campaigns related to innovation, green work place, 
safety, and building excellence efforts as well as striving for industry 
standard certifications to maintain and improve its position as the 
preferred Class A1 main contractor in Singapore. PLC is BCA certified 
for ISO 9000 Quality Management System, ISO 14000 Environmental 
Management System and OHSMS Occupational Health & Safety 
Management System. Total construction contracts in Singapore and in 
the region experienced a sharp increase in early 2008 but significantly 
slowed down by the second half of the year.  Despite the current 
adverse market situation globally, PLC remains profitable with a 
healthy order book and a relatively smooth progress on all the live 
projects.  PLC’s order book value as at 31 December 2008 stood at 
S$434 million (2007: of S$357 million). 

In an effort to diversify PLC’s exposure from Singapore property 
market, recently the Company has decided to selectively look into 
overseas opportunities with an emphasis on Middle Eastern markets.  
In line with this strategy, in March 2009, PLC secured its commercial 
license issued by Department of Planning & Economy of Abu Dhabi, 
UAE.  The license allows the newly established PLC Branch in Abu 
Dhabi to undertake general contracting of civil constructions, enabling 
the Company to enter into and participate in the various construction 
projects in Abu Dhabi.
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Corporate Governance Report

United Fiber System Limited (the “Company”) continues to be committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance conduct and 
to place importance on its corporate governance processes and systems so as to ensure greater transparency, accountability and protection 
of shareholders’ interest. The Company has observed the principles and guidelines set out in the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the 
“Code”).  

The Company’s corporate governance practices on each of the principles of the Code are outlined in the following sections. 

Board Matters

Principle 1     Board’s conduct of its affairs

The Board oversees the business of Company and is collectively responsible for the success of the Company. It assumes responsibility for 
the overall strategic plans, key operational initiatives, major investment and funding proposals, financial performance reviews and corporate 
governance practices. The Board provides leadership and guidance for management. The Company has in place financial authorization and 
approval limits for operating and capital expenditure, procurement of goods and services, acquisitions and disposal of investments and treasury 
transactions. Within these guidelines, the Board approves transactions above certain thresholds. The Board also approves the annual budget and 
the financial results for release to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST)

The Board is supported in its tasks by Board committees that have been established to assist in the execution of its responsibilities. In order to 
facilitate decision-making and to ensure the smooth operation of the Company, the Board has delegated some of its powers to the Executive 
Committee. The Board is also supported by the Audit Committee, the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee.    

The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings at least four times a year. Ad-hoc meetings are convened as and when warranted by particular 
circumstances. The Company’s Articles of Association provide for meetings to be held via telephone conference. The attendance of the Directors 
at meetings of the Board and Board committees, as well as frequency of such meetings, is disclosed in this report.

Board coMPositioN aNd GuidaNce

Principle 2   strong and independent element in the Board

The size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to time by the Nominating Committee which strives to ensure that the size of 
the Board is conducive to effective discussions and decision-making and that the Board has an appropriate balance of independent directors.

The majority of our directors are independent directors. The Nominating Committee reviews the independence of each director on an annual 
basis and it considers a director as independent if he has no relationship with the Group or its officers that could interfere, or reasonably 
perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s independent business judgement with a view to the best interest of the Company.    
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The Board comprises the following members:

Name   role
Mr Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström  (Chairman, Non-Executive Director)
Mr Chia Quee Hock, PBM (Deputy Chairman, Executive Director)
Mr Jaka Prasetya  (Executive Director and CEO)
Mr Paul Lim Yu Neng (1) (Independent Director)
Mr Ho Yew Yuen  (Independent Director)
Mr Ang Mong Seng, BBM  (Independent Director)
Mr M. Rajaram (2)  (Independent Director) 

Notes:
(1) Re-designated as Independent Director on 26 February 2009
(2) Appointed on 25 March 2008

As a group, the Directors bring with them a broad range of industry knowledge, expertise and experience in areas such as accounting, banking, 
finance, business and management. The diversity of the directors’ experience allows for the useful exchange of ideas and view as well as 
provide for effective decision-making. The profile of each Board member is set out on pages 6 & 7 of this Annual Report.

The Board considers the present size appropriate for the current nature and scope of the Group’s operations. 

cHairMaN aNd cHief executiVe officer

Principle 3  clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company

There is a clear separation of the roles and responsibilities of the Non-Excutive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). This is to ensure 
appropriate balance of power and authority, accountability and decision-making.

Mr Sven Edström, who is the Chairman, and Mr Jaka Prasetya, the CEO of the Company are not related to each other. Mr. Prasetya is responsible 
for the day-to-day management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. He plays a leading role in developing and expanding the 
businesses of the Group and ensures that the Board is kept updated and informed of the Group’s business. 

The Non-Executive Chairman’s responsibilities include:

1. scheduling meetings and leading the Board to ensure its effectiveness and approves the agenda of Board meetings in consultation 
with the CEO;

2. reviewing key proposals and Board papers before they are presented to the Board and ensures that Board members are provided 
with accurate and timely information;

3. ensuring that Board members engage Management in constructive debate on various matters including strategic issues and business 
planning processes; and

4. promoting high standards of corporate governance.

Corporate Governance Report
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Board MeMBersHiP

Principle 4 formal and transparent Process for the appointment of New directors to the Board

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) reviews and assesses candidates for directorship before making recommendations to the Board. In 
recommending new directors to the Board, the NC takes into consideration the skills and experience and the current composition of the 
Board, and strives to ensure that the Board has an appropriate balance of independent directors as well as directors with the right profile of 
expertise, skills, attributes and ability. In evaluating a director’s contribution and performance for the purposes of re-nomination, the Nominating 
Committee takes into consideration a variety of factors such as attendance, preparedness, participation and candour. Recommendation for new 
directors and retirement of directors are made by the Nominating Committee. 

The Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once every three years. The Company’s Articles 
of Association provides that one third of the Board, or the number nearest to one third is to retire by rotation at every Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”). In addition, the Company’s Articles of Association also provides that newly appointed Directors are required to submit themselves for 
re-nomination and re-election at the next AGM of the Company.
 

Board PerforMaNce

Principle 5 formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board and contributions by each director

The NC has established a formal assessment process to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The performance criteria for Board 
evaluation are based on financial and non-financial indicators such as an evaluation of the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s 
access to information, Board processes, strategy and planning, risk management, accountability, Board performance in relation to discharging 
its principal functions, communication with senior management and standards of conduct of the directors. 

The Board and Management have strived to ensure that directors appointed to the Board possess the experience, knowledge and skills critical 
to the Group’s business to enable the Board to make sound and well-considered decisions.

access to iNforMatioN

Principle 6 complete, adequate and timely information to the Board Members

The Board members are provided with adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings and on an ongoing basis. The Board has 
separate and independent access to the Group’s senior management and the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is responsible 
to the Board for ensuring board procedures are followed and the relevant statutory rules and regulations are complied with. Under the Articles of 
Association of the Company, the decision to appoint or remove the Company Secretary can only be taken by the board as a whole. The Company 
Secretary attends all the required board meetings.

The Board also takes independent professional advice as and when necessary to enable it to discharge its responsibilities effectively. Subject to 
the approval of the Chairman, directors, whether as a group or individually, may seek and obtain independent professional advice to assist them 
in their duties at the expense of the Company. The Board is updated on the regulations of the SGX-ST, Companies Act, corporate governance 
policies and other statutory requirements. Upon the appointment of a new Director, a formal letter is provided, setting out the director’s duties 
and obligations. The newly appointed Director will be briefed on the Group’s businesses, operations and the relevant regulations and governance 
requirements.

Corporate Governance Report
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Board coMMittees

executiVe coMMittee 

The Executive Committee (“EXCO”) comprises:

Mr Chia Quee Hock, PBM
Mr Jaka Prasetya

The role of the EXCO is to formulate the Group’s strategic initiatives, provide directions for new investments and business opportunities, review 
material financial and non-financial matters as well as oversee the Group’s conduct and corporate governance structure. In carrying out their 
duties, the EXCO makes assessment and manages areas of significant business and financial risks. The key areas include the inherent risks 
associated with the business operations of the Group and financial risks associated with interest rate, liquidity, foreign currency and credit risks. 
The objective is to ensure that the Group achieves its desired performance goals as well as enhance long-term shareholders’ value.

NoMiNatiNG coMMittee

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises the following members: 

Mr Ho Yew Yuen (Chairman)
Mr Sven Edström
Mr M. Rajaram

The NC’s responsibilities include the following:

1. review and assess all candidates for directorships before making recommendation to the Board for appointment of directors;

2. reviews and recommends to the Board the retirement and re-election of directors in accordance with the Company’s Articles of 
Association at each AGM;

3. reviews the composition of the Board annually to ensure that the Board has appropriate balance of independent directors and to ensure 
an appropriate balance of expertise, skills, attributes and ability among the directors;

4. reviews the independence of directors.

 

Corporate Governance Report
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reMuNeratioN coMMittee

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises the following members:

Mr Ang Mong Seng, BBM (Chairman)
Mr Paul Lim Yu Neng
Mr M. Rajaram

The RC’s responsibilities include the following:

1. reviews and recommends to the Board an appropriate and competitive framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives of 
the Group; 

2. recommends to the Board specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director, taking into account factors including remuneration 
packages of executive directors in comparable industries as well as the performance of the Company and that of the Executive               
Directors;

3. reviews and make recommendation on the fees of independent directors for approval by the Board; and

4. ensures the remuneration policies and systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and strategies.

reMuNeratioN Matters

Principle 7 Procedures for developing remuneration Policies

Principle 8    Level and Mix of remuneration

Principle 9    disclosure of remuneration

The remuneration package adopted for the Executive Directors is as per the service contract entered into between the respective Director and 
the Company. The RC will recommend on the specific remuneration packages for an Executive Director upon recruitment. Thereafter, the RC will 
review subsequent increments, bonuses and allowances where these payments are discretionary. No Director or member of the RC is involved 
in deciding his own remuneration.

Independent Directors do not have any service contract with the Company. Save for Directors’ fees, Independent Directors do not receive any 
remuneration from the Company.

Directors’ fees are set in accordance with a remuneration framework comprising basic fees and additional fees for serving on any of the 
committees. Directors’ fees are subject to approval of shareholders of the Company as a lump sum payment at the AGM of the Company. 

No immediate family members of a Director or CEO have remuneration exceeding S$150,000 during the year.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Directors’ compensation table for FY2008 is as follows:
 

remuneration Bands   directors’  other Board allowances
and name of director salary Bonuses fees cPf committee fees and others total
 % % % % % % %

s$500,000 and above       
Jaka Prasetya 82.52 0.00 0.00 0.98 0.00 16.50 100.00
Lee Kan Yuk (1) 63.94 26.64 0.00 1.97 0.00 7.45 100.00

s$250,000 to         
below s$500,000 – – – – – – –

Below s$250,000       
Sven Edström 0.00 0.00 61.04 0.00 38.96 0.00 100.00
Chia Quee Hock 85.60 12.49 0.00 1.91 0.00 0.00 100.00
Paul Lim Yu Neng  0.00 0.00 87.85 0.00 12.15 0.00 100.00
Ho Yew Yuen  0.00 0.00 53.72 0.00 46.28 0.00 100.00
Ang Mong Seng 0.00 0.00 66.67 0.00 33.33 0.00 100.00
Ang Lian Hai (2) 0.00 0.00 66.67 0.00 33.33 0.00 100.00
Dominic Tan Eng Kiat (3) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00 100.00
M. Rajaram (4) 0.00 0.00 68.40 0.00 31.60 0.00 100.00

Notes
(1) Resigned on 31 December 2008
(2) Resigned on 26 April 2008
(3) Resigned on 4 September 2008
(4) Appointed on 25 March 2008

The following table sets out the range of gross remuneration received by the top five executives (excluding executive directors) of the Group 
for FY2008:

 No. of executives   
remuneration Bands  2008 2007 
S$500,000 and above 2 1
S$250,000 to below            
S$500,000 – 2
Below S$250,000 2 2
total 4 5

The Company currently does not have any employee share option schemes. 

Corporate Governance Report
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audit coMMittee

Principle 11 audit committee
Principle 12 internal control
Principle 13 internal audit (“ia”)

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises the following three members, all of whom are Independent Directors, appropriately qualified to discharge 
their responsibilities: 

Mr Ho Yew Yuen (Chairman)
Mr Ang Mong Seng, BBM 
Mr M. Rajaram 

The AC performs the following main functions: 

1. recommends to the Board of Directors the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors as well as their     
remuneration and terms of engagement;

2. reviews with the Internal and External Auditors their audit plans, evaluation of accounting, controls, audit report and any others matters 
which the auditors wish to discuss.

3. reviews any related significant findings and recommendations of the Internal and External Auditors together with management’s 
responses thereto;

4. reviews the adequacy of the Group’s system of internal controls, financial and management reporting systems;

5. reviews with Management, Internal and External Auditors significant risks or exposures that exist and assesses the steps management 
has taken to minimise such risks to the Group;

6. reviews significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements and any formal 
announcements relating to financial performance;

7. reviews interested party transactions as defined in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST;

8. reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements; 

9. reviews the adequacy of the internal controls and risk management policies and systems established by Management; and

10. reviews the effectiveness of the internal audit function. 

The AC has full access to and receives full co-operation from Management, and has full discretion to invite members of Management to attend 
its meetings and has been given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions. The Internal and External Auditors have direct and 
unrestricted access to the AC, which is empowered to conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within its terms of reference. 

The Company’s Internal Audit function is out-sourced to Pioneer Management Services Pte Ltd. The Internal Auditors reports directly to the AC. 
The internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company and the Group.

Corporate Governance Report



Annual Report 2008      25   

Internal Auditors, in the course of its audit, review the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls, including financial, operational 
and compliance controls, and risk Management. Material non-compliance, internal control weaknesses and key business risks noted during its 
audit and alignment plans to address these risks and weaknesses are communicated to Management accordingly and tabled for discussion at 
AC meetings with updates by management on the status of these action plans. The AC has reviewed and is satisfied that existing controls in 
the Company and the Group are adequate.

The AC has reviewed the overall scope of both the internal and external audits and the assistance given by the Company’s officers to the 
auditors. It met with the Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss the results of their respective examinations and their evaluation of 
the Company’s system of internal accounting controls. The AC has also met with the auditors, without the presence of management.

The AC has also reviewed the quarterly and annual financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 
2008 as well as the auditors report thereon. Interested person transactions of the Group in the financial year have been reviewed by the AC.  

The AC has conducted an annual review of all non-audit services by the auditor to satisfy itself that the nature and extent of such services will 
not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

Four AC meetings were held during the year 2008. The Board is kept informed of the AC’s activities.

Attendance at Board and Board Committees’ Meetings held in year 2008 is as set out below: 

type of Board audit committee remuneration Nominating  
Meeting Meetings Meetings committee Meetings committee Meetings

Total No. Held  5 4 1 3

attendance      

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström 5 NA NA 2

Chia Quee Hock, PBM 5 NA NA 1

Jaka Prasetya 5 NA NA NA

Lee Kan Yuk (1) 4 NA NA NA

Ho Yew Yuen 5 4 1 3

Paul Lim Yu Neng  5 NA 0 NA

Ang Mong Seng, BBM 5 4 1 NA

Ang Lian Hai (2)  2 1 1 2

Dominic Tan Eng Kiat (3) 3 NA NA NA

M. Rajaram (4) 4 3 0 1

NA: Not Applicable

Notes
(1) Resigned on 31 December 2008
(2) Resigned on 26 April 2008
(3) Resigned on 4 September 2008
(4) Appointed on 25 March 2008

Corporate Governance Report
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coMMuNicatioN WitH sHareHoLder

Principle 10  accountability 

Principle 14 communication with shareholders

Principle 15 Greater shareholder Participation

The Company believes in engaging in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders and is committed to conveying pertinent 
information to shareholders on a timely basis.

All material and price sensitive information as well as information on the Company’s new initiatives are publicly released via SGXNET on a timely 
basis. In addition, the Company also responds to enquiries from investors, analysts, fund managers and the press. 

At the general meetings of the Company, shareholders are given the opportunity to air their views and ask questions regarding the Company 
and the Group. The Articles of Association of the Company allow shareholders to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in their stead.
 
Each item of special business included in the notice of the general meetings is accompanied, where appropriate, by an explanation for the 
proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at the meeting. The Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration 
and Nominating Committees are normally available at the meeting to answer those questions relating to the work of these committees. The 
External Auditors are also present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries by shareholders.

MateriaL coNtracts

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of its CEO, Directors or Controlling 
Shareholders.

deaLiNGs iN securities

The Company has adopted an internal code with regards to dealings in securities to provide guidance for its directors and officers. 

The Company’s Code provides that Directors and employees are prohibited from dealing in the securities of the Company during the period 
commencing two weeks before the announcement of the Company’s financial results for the first three quarters and one month before the 
announcement of the Company’s full year financial results and ending on the date of the announcements of the relevant results or if they are 
in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information on the Group. They are also made aware of the applicability of the insider trading laws 
at all times. 
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MaJor ProPerties

Held by effective   description &
 Group   approximate
 interest Location  Land area tenure usage

indonesia     

PT Hutan Rindang Banua 100% South Kalimantan, Within forest concession  43 years lease Plantation  
  Indonesia area base camp up to100 years Quarters

PT Marga Buana Bumi Mulia 100% Sungai Cuka, Satui,  249.46 hectares  Mill Area
  South Kalimantan,
  Indonesia  

PT Mangium Anugerah Lestari 100% Alle Alle, Pulau Laut,  52 hectares  Mill Area
  South Kalimantan, 
  Indonesia 

iNVestMeNt ProPertY 

   
People’s republic of china (Prc)    

Dongshan Poh Lian 100% Dongshan, Land area: 4,347 sqm 70 years lease 40 residential
Real Estate Co Ltd  Fujian Province, PRC 7-Storey residential and  (61 years units and 46
   commercial building.  unexpired) shops
   43 out of 86 units 
   have been sold   

Corporate Governance Report
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Report of the Directors

The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of United 
Fiber System Limited (the “Company” or “Unifiber”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance sheet and statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

directors

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström
Chia Quee Hock, PBM
Jaka Prasetya 
Paul Lim Yu Neng
Ho Yew Yuen
Ang Mong Seng, BBM
M. Rajaram 

In accordance with Articles 107 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Chia Quee Hock, Ang Mong Seng and Ho Yew Yuen, retire and 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election, except for Ho Yew Yuen who does not seek for re-election for the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

In accordance with Companies Act – Section 153(6), Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström, retires and being eligible, offers himself for                   
re-election.

arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one 
of whose object is, to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the 
Company or any other body corporate.

directors’ interest in shares and debentures

The following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of Directors’ shareholdings required 
to be kept under section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares of the Company and related corporations as 
stated below:

  direct interest   deemed interest

 at the   at the  
 beginning of  at the end beginning of at the end  
 financial year of financial  financial year of financial
Name of director or date of appointment year  or date of appointment year 

ordinary shares of the company     

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström 1,000,000 2,000,000 – –
Chia Quee Hock, PBM 1,000 1,000 46,634,355 14,000,000
Jaka Prasetya  – – 3,000,000 9,400,000
Paul Lim Yu Neng  1,000,000 1,000,000 – –
M. Rajaram   300,000 2,300,000 5,957,000 5,957,000
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directors’ interest in shares and debentures (cont’d)

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and 21 January 2009.

Except as disclosed in this report, no Director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares or debentures of 
the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, or date of appointment if later, or at the end of the 
financial year.

directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or 
become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director, or with a 
firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest.

options

There are no options granted by the Company and its subsidiaries to take up unissued shares in the Company and its related corporations.

audit committee

The Audit Committee (“AC”) carried out its functions in accordance with section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, including 
the following:

l Reviews the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Company, and review the internal auditors’ evaluation of the           
adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and the assistance given by the Company’s management to the 
external and internal auditors;

l Reviews the quarterly and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on the annual financial statements of the Company 
before their submission to the  Board of Directors;

l Reviews effectiveness of the Company’s material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 
management via reviews carried out by the internal auditors; 

l Meets with the external auditors, other committees, and management in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that these 
groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

l Reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related compliance policies and 
programs and any reports received from regulators;

l Reviews the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors; 

l Reviews the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

l Recommends to the Board of Directors the external auditors to be nominated, approves the compensation of the external auditors, and 
reviews the scope and results of the audit; 
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audit committee (cont’d)

l Reports actions and minutes of the AC to the Board of Directors with such recommendations as the AC considers appropriate; and

l Reviews interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited         
(SGX-ST)’s Listing Manual.

 The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied that the nature and extent 
of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. The AC has also conducted a review of interested person 
transactions. 

 The AC convened four meetings during the year with full attendance from all members. The AC has also met with internal and external 
auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once a year.

 Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

auditors

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

chia Quee Hock
Deputy Chairman

Jaka Prasetya
Chief Executive Officer

Singapore
26 March 2009
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Statement by Directors 

We, Chia Quee Hock and Jaka Prasetya, being two of the Directors of United Fiber System Limited, do hereby state that, in the opinion of 
the Directors,

(a) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, statements of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow          
statement together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 December 2008 and the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in 
equity of the Company for the year ended on that date, and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

chia Quee Hock
Deputy Chairman

Jaka Prasetya
Chief Executive Officer

Singapore
26 March 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

to the Members of united fiber system Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of United Fiber System Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
the “Group”) set out on pages 35 to 100, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2008, the 
statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company, the income statement and cash flows statement of the Group for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
the Singapore Companies Act, Cap 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes devising and 
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 
preparation of true and fair profit and loss account and balance sheet and to maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. Except as discussed below, we conducted our 
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

As indicated in Note 40 to the financial statements, the Company used to manage the operations of the PT Kiani Kertas (PT KK) pulp mill, 
pursuant to an Operation Management Agreement (“OMA”) entered into on 25 July 2005. Under the OMA, the Company injected working 
capital funding into the pulp mill, of which, US$28.2 million remains outstanding as at 31 December 2008.  This amount has been classified 
as “Advances to PT KK” and is included in Trade and other receivables on the Balance Sheet of the Group.  Pursuant to the terms of the 
Share Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) dated 5 December 2005 with the vendors of PT KK, all amounts injected by the Company into PT KK 
are recoverable from PT KK. If not received, upon acquisition of PT KK, these amounts will be offset against the purchase consideration as 
stipulated under this agreement. We are unable to obtain direct confirmation from PT KK for the above amount.  Based on the information 
available to us, we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to the appropriateness and recoverability of the carrying amount of the advances to 
PT KK.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (cont’d)

Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be necessary, had we been able to 
satisfy ourselves as to the appropriateness and the recoverability of the carrying amount of the advances to PT KK as mentioned above,

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company are 
properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2008 and the results, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of 
which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore

26 March 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

(In United States Dollars)

  Note 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000
      
revenue  4 113,785 82,925
      
Cost of sales   (111,321) (77,530)

      
Gross profit   2,464 5,395
      
Other income  5 3,116 4,237
      
Selling and distribution expenses  (3,861) (1,760)
      
Administrative expenses  (9,689) (11,643)
      
Other operating expenses  (7,828) (5,192)
      
Deferred expenses written off 40 (7,487) –

Fair value (loss)/gain on forest asset and logs harvested 10 (63,805) 23,291
      
Finance costs  6 (5,857) (5,175)

      
(Loss)/Profit before tax 7 (92,947) 9,153
      
Tax benefit/(expense) 8 25,994 (8,236)

(Loss)/Profit for the year  (66,953) 917

      
attributable to:    

Equity holders of the Company  (66,953) 917

      
Minority interests   – –

   (66,953) 917

      
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to equity 
   holders of the company (cents per share)   

Basic  9 (2.89) 0.04

      
Diluted  9 (2.89) 0.04
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Balance Sheets 
at 31 December 2008

(In United States Dollars)

 Group company
  Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

        
Non-current assets       
Forest asset  10 189,422 249,507 – –
Property, plant and equipment 11 44,308 46,146 210 249
Amounts due from subsidiaries 12 – – 89,922 80,342
Investment in subsidiaries 13 – – 131,337 130,827
Investment in associates 14 – – – –
Investment property 15 1,471 – – –
Other investments  16 – 59 – 59
Club membership  17 69 69 – –
Deferred tax assets 18 210 79 – –
Goodwill on consolidation 19 20,479 20,400 – –
Other non-current assets  204 – – –

   256,163 316,260 221,469 211,477

        
current assets        
Construction work-in-progress 20 1,047 326 – –
Completed property held for sale 21 –    1,369 – –
Inventories  22 1,652 9,466 – –
Trade and other receivables 23 62,997 65,135 329 8,131
Cash and cash equivalents 24 8,847 6,733 133 1,382

   74,543 83,029 462 9,513

        
current Liabilities       
Construction progress billings in excess of costs 20 21,039 7,198 – –
Trade and other payables 25 23,795 45,448 18,646 11,760
Hire purchase creditors 26 360 116 – – 
Provision for taxation  1,139 1,220 453 672
Short term loans and borrowings 27 22,297 15,174 8,697 – 

   68,630 69,156 27,796 12,432

      
Net current assets/(Liabilities)  5,913 13,873 (27,334) (2,919)
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(In United States Dollars) 
 Group company
  Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

        
Non-current Liabilities       
Deferred tax liabilities 18 41,380 67,143 – –
Non-current payable  385 249 – –
Hire purchase creditors 26 938 121 – –
Derivative liability  28 285 405 285 405
Long term loans and borrowings 28 40,402 23,951 19,652 23,951

   83,390 91,869 19,937 24,356

Net Assets   178,686 238,264 174,198 184,202

        
 
equity attributable to 
   equity Holders of the company       
Share capital  29 212,360 209,560 212,360 209,560
Reserves   (33,675) 28,703 (38,162) (25,358)

   178,685 238,263 174,198 184,202
Minority interests   1 1 – –

total equity   178,686 238,264 174,198 184,202

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Balance Sheets (cont’d) 
at 31 December 2008
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Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2008

(In United States Dollars) 

 attributable to equity holders of the company 

 share foreign 
 capital currency other accumulated total Minority total
 (Note 29) translation reserves (1) Profit reserves interests equity

 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000  us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

2008
Group       
       
At 1 January 2008   209,560 1,189 (62,479) 89,993 28,703 1 238,264
       
Net effect of exchange 
   differences – 4,575 – – 4,575 – 4,575
Loss for the year – – – (66,953) (66,953) – (66,953)
       
Total recognised income 
   and expenses for the year – 4,575 – (66,953) (62,378) – (62,378)

       
Issuance of shares 2,800 – – – – – 2,800

       
at 31 december 2008 212,360 5,764 (62,479) 23,040 (33,675) 1 178,686

       

(1) Other reserves comprise equity-settled liability for acquisition of Anrof Singapore Limited (“ASL”) Group of companies in year 2002.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Statements of Changes in Equity (cont’d) 
for the year ended 31 December 2008

(In United States Dollars) 

 attributable to equity holders of the company 

 share foreign 
 capital currency other accumulated total Minority total
 (Note 29) translation reserves (1) Profit reserves interests equity

 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000  us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

2007
Group       
       
At 1 January 2007  209,560 (1,916) (62,479) 89,076  24,681 1 234,242
       
Net effect of exchange 
   differences – 3,105 – – 3,105 – 3,105
Profit for the year – – – 917 917 – 917
       
Total recognised income 
   and expenses for the year – 3,105 – 917 4,022 – 4,022
       

at 31 december 2007 209,560 1,189 (62,479) 89,993 28,703 1 238,264

       
       
(1)  Other reserves comprise equity-settled liability for acquisition of ASL Group of companies in year 2002.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Statements of Changes in Equity (cont’d) 
for the year ended 31 December 2008

(In United States Dollars)

 attributable to equity holders of the company 

 share foreign
 capital currency other accumulated total total
 (Note 29) translation reserves (1) Losses reserves equity
 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

2008
company      
      
At 1 January 2008 209,560 20,975 5,826 (52,159) (25,358) 184,202
      
Net effect of exchange 
   differences – 1,098 – – 1,098 1,098
Loss for the year – – – (13,902) (13,902) (13,902)

Total recognised income 
   and expenses for the year – 1,098 – (13,902) (12,804) (12,804)

      
Issuance of shares 2,800 – – – – 2,800  

at 31 december 2008 212,360 22,073 5,826 (66,061) (38,162) 174,198

(1)  Other reserves comprise equity-settled liability for acquisition of ASL Group of companies in year 2002.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Statements of Changes in Equity (cont’d) 
for the year ended 31 December 2008

(In United States Dollars) 

 attributable to equity holders of the company 

 share foreign
 capital currency other accumulated total total
 (Note 29) translation reserves (1) Losses reserves equity
 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

2007
company      
      
At 1 January 2007 209,560 9,594 5,826 (42,082) (26,662) 182,898
      
Net effect of exchange 
   differences – 11,381 – – 11,381  11,381
Loss for the year – – – (10,077) (10,077) (10,077)
      
Total recognised income 
   and expenses for the year – 11,381 – (10,077) 1,304 1,304
      

        
at 31 december 2007 209,560 20,975 5,826 (52,159) (25,358) 184,202

      
      
(1)  Other reserves comprise equity-settled liability for acquisition of ASL Group of companies in year 2002.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2008

(In United States Dollars)

  Note 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000
    
cash flows from operating activities    

    
(Loss)/profit before tax (92,947) 9,153
    
Adjustments for:    
   Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,928 2,436
   Loss/(gain) arising from changes in fair value less estimated 
      point-of-sale costs of forest asset 63,805  (23,291)
   Gain arising from increase in fair value of financial instruments (118) (1,693)
   Interest expenses 5,857 5,175
   Interest income  (24) (379)
   Impairment in club membership – 38
   Write back of provision for other investments – (23)
   Write down of inventories 158 –
   Gain on disposal of investment property – (20)
   Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (77) (94)
   Gain on disposal of associate (1,718) –
   Property, plant and equipment written-off 324 50
   Loss/(gain) on disposal of other investments – (31)
   Deferred expense written off 7,487 –
   Net exchange differences 3,961 1,457

    
    
operating loss before changes in working capital  (10,364) (7,222)
    
   Increase in completed properties held for sale – (142)
   Increase in construction work-in-progress, net of construction progress billings in excess of costs 13,271 1,177
   Decrease/(increase) in inventories 7,932 (3,869)
   (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (5,159) 6,232
   Decrease in trade and other payables (950) (19,734)

    
    
cash flows generated from/(used) in operations 4,730 (23,558)
Income taxes paid  (786) (254)
Interest paid  (5,857) (5,175)
    
    
Net cash flows used in operating activities (1,913) (28,987)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 December 2008

(In United States Dollars)

  Note 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000
    
cash flows from investing activities     

Addition in costs of forest asset  (1,886) (2,949)
Interest received   24 379
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  264 5,897
Proceeds from disposal of other investments  59 52
Proceeds from disposal of investment property  – 450
Proceeds from disposal of associate  1,718 –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (1,727) (6,998)
     

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (1,548) (3,169)

     
cash flows from financing activities     

(Redemption)/proceeds from issuance of convertible bond  (6,600) 25,000
Proceeds from/(repayment of) bank borrowings, net  12,195 (22,211)
Repayment hire purchase, net  (341) (56)
Decrease/(increase) of pledge in fixed deposits  56 (68)
     
     

Net cash flows generated from financing activities  5,310 2,665

     
     
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  317 1,618
     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,166 (27,873)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   5,350 33,223
     
     

cash and cash equivalents at 31 december  24 7,516 5,350

      
  

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2008

1. General information

1.1 corporate information

 United Fiber System Limited (“Unifiber” or the “Company”) is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. 
The Company’s shares are publicly traded on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).  

 The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 47 Scotts Road #07-03/04, Goldbell Towers, 
Singapore 228233.

 The principal activities of the Company are those of an investment holding company and provision of management services to 
entities within the Unifiber Group of companies.  The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 3 to the financial 
statements. 

1.2 Going concern

 The Group and the Company incurred a net loss of US$66,953,000 and US$13,902,000 respectively during the financial year ended 
31 December 2008. Although as at that date, the Company is in a net current liability position of US$27,334,000, the Group has a 
net current asset position of US$5,913,000.

 The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis after taking into consideration the overall business of the Group and 
its access to various financing facilities.  Despite the negative cashflow generated by the forestry and pulp division due to the current 
adverse global market situation, the construction division continues to be profitable and generates healthy cashflow to the Group.  In 
addition, the Company has also available to it undrawn financing facilities, including an equity credit line of US$55.31 million from a 
financial institution that has not been drawn down as at 31 December 2008. The credit line is available to the Company till 1 August 
2010.

2. summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company have 
been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). 

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

 The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD” or “US$”) and all values in the tables are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (US$’000) as indicated.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 future changes in accounting policies

 The Group has not adopted the following FRS and Interpretation FRS (“INT FRS”) that have been issued but not yet effective:

    effective for annual periods 
 reference description beginning on or after

   
 FRS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised presentation  1 January 2009
 
 FRS 1/32 Financial Instruments: Presentation –Amendments relating to  1 January 2009
     Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
 
 FRS 23  Borrowing Costs  1 January 2009

 FRS 27  Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Amendments  1 January 2009
     relating to Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate 

 FRS 39 Financial Instruments : Recognition and Measurement – Amendments  1 July 2009
     relating to eligible hedged items  

 FRS 101 First-Time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards  1 January 2009
     - Amendments relating to Cost of an Investment in a 
       Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate 
  
 FRS 102 Share-based payments – Amendment relating to vesting conditions 1 January 2009
  
 FRS 108 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
  
 INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008
  
 INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 October 2008
  
 INT FRS 117 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009
  
 IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2009
  
 IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009
  
  -  Improvements to IFRS  1 January 2009, 
    unless otherwise stated.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 future changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

 The Directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact on the financial statements in 
the period of initial application, except for FRS 1 and FRS 108 as indicated below.

 FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised presentation

 The revised FRS 1 requires owner and non-owner changes in equity to be presented separately. The statement of changes in equity 
will include only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line item. In addition, 
the revised standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of income and expense recognised 
in profit or loss, together with all other items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked 
statements. The Company is currently evaluating the format to adopt. 

 FRS 108 Operating Segments

 FRS 108 requires entities to disclose segment information based on the information reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision 
maker. The impact of this standard on the other segment disclosures is still to be determined. As this is a disclosure standard, it will 
have no impact on the financial position and results of the Group when implemented in 2009.

2.3 significant accounting judgements and estimates

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. 
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates would result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

 Judgements made in applying accounting policies 

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

 (a) income taxes

  The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in determining the Group-
wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates 
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s tax payables and deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2008 
was US$1,139,000 (2007: US$1,220,000) and US$41,380,000 (2007: US$67,143,000) respectively.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

 (b) Proposed acquisition of Pt Kiani Kertas (“Pt KK”)

  The Directors of the Company have taken legal advice and continue to view the working capital funding amounting to 
US$28.2m previously injected into PT KK, pursuant to the Operational Management Agreement entered into with PT KK on 
25 July 2005 and the Sales and Purchase Agreement entered into with the shareholders of PT KK on 5 December 2005 
is recoverable and enforceable. Among the alternatives, such recovery may be achieved through: (i) mutual commercial 
arrangement with PT KK and/or its shareholders, (ii) legal actions against PT KK and/or its shareholders, and/or (iii) selling 
of such receivables to third parties.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

 (a) impairment of goodwill

  The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for goodwill at each reporting date. Goodwill is tested 
for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist.

  When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows.

  The carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill as at 31 December 2008 was US$20,479,000 (2007: US$20,400,000). More 
details are given in Note 19.

 (b) Valuation of forest asset

  Forest asset is measured on initial recognition and at each balance sheet date at its fair value less estimated point-of-sale 
cost. Annual valuation by independent professional valuer is carried out to ascertain the fair value less estimated point-of-sale 
costs of forest asset. The carrying amount of the Group’s forest asset at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 10 of the 
financial statements.

 (c) impairment of loans and receivables

  The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that loans and receivables are 
impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers factors such as the probability 
of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

 (c) impairment of loans and receivables (cont’d)

  Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated based on 
historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. 

  The carrying amount of the Group’s loans and receivables at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 23 to the financial 
statements. The loans that are impaired have been fully provided for; accordingly the change of present value of estimated 
cash flows on receivables will not have an impact on the impairment allowance in the income statement.

 (d) construction contracts

  The Group recognises contract revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet 
date, when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably. The stage of completion is measured by 
reference to architect certification. When reference to architect certification of work performed is not available in a timely 
manner, the stage of completion is determined by reference to the past experience and knowledge of the internal quantity 
surveyors. Assumptions are required to estimate the stage of completion. The estimates are made based on past experience 
and knowledge of the quantity surveyors. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising from construction contracts at 
the balance sheet date are disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements.

 (e) Writedown of inventories

  Management determines the net relisable value of inventories by using prevailing market data such as most recent sale 
transaction. These estimates require judgement as to the anticipated sale prices by reference to recent sales transactions. The 
write down for inventories for the year ended 31 December 2008 is US$158,000 (2007: Nil). 

 (f) useful lives of plant and equipment

  The cost of plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the plant and equipment’s estimated economic 
useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these plant and equipment to be within 5 to 15 years. These are 
common life expectancies applied in the industry. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments 
could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore, future depreciation charges could 
be revised. 

  The carrying amount of the Group’s plant and equipment at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 11 to the financial 
statements. A 5% difference in the expected useful lives of these assets from management’s estimates would result in 
approximately 0.23% (2007: 14.5%) variance in the Group’s profit for the year.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008



Annual Report 2008      49   

2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 functional currency, foreign currency and presentation currency

 (a) functional currency

  Management has determined Singapore Dollars (“SGD” or “S$”) as currency of the Company as a large portion of its revenues 
and costs are denominated in SGD. 

 (b) foreign currency 

  Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and 
are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction 
dates. 

  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

 
  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the balance sheet date 

are recognised in the income statement except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the 
Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries, which are recognised initially in equity as foreign currency translation reserve in 
the consolidated balance sheet and recognised in the consolidated income statement on disposal of the foreign operation.

  The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into SGD at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and their income statements are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. The exchange differences arising 
on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity as foreign currency translation reserve. On disposal 
of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognised in the income statement.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 functional currency, foreign currency and presentation currency (cont’d)

 (c) Presentation currency

  The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”) as the functional currency of most subsidiaries within 
the Forestry and Pulp Division is pre-dominantly in USD. As the core investment of the Group is in Forestry and Pulp Division 
and this division is expected to contribute significantly to the Group’s results in the future, the financial statements, including 
comparatives of the Group and Company have been translated from SGD to USD for presentation purpose. 

  The financial statements are translated from SGD to USD using the following procedures:

 	 l Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate ruling at that balance sheet 
date; and

  l Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for the year, which 
approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in a separate component of equity as foreign currency translation 
reserves.

2.5 subsidiaries and basis of consolidation

 (a) subsidiaries

  A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

  In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses.

 (b) Basis of consolidation

  The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the balance 
sheet date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and 
events in similar circumstances.

  All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and unrealised gain and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full.

  Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
Adjustments to those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in equity.

  Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill on the balance sheet. The accounting policy for 
goodwill is set out in Note 2.12.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5 subsidiaries and basis of consolidation (cont’d)

 (b) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

  Any excess of the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities over the cost of the business combination is recognised in the income statement on the date of acquisition.

  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue 
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

2.6 contingencies

 A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 

 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group. 

2.7 associates

 An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has significant influence. The associate is equity 
accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over 
the associate.

 The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment in 
associate is measured in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. 
Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

 Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the 
cost of the investment is deducted from the carrying amount of the investment and is recognised as income as part of the Group’s 
share of results of the associate in the period in which the investment is acquired.

 When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

 The financial statements of the associate is prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments 
are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for at cost less impairment losses. 
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.8 Joint ventures

 A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control, 
where the strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 
The Group recognises its interest in the joint venture using proportionate consolidation. The Group combines its share of each of the 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint venture with the similar items, line by line, in its consolidated financial statements. 
The joint venture is proportionately consolidated from the date the Group obtains joint control until the date on which the Group ceases 
to have joint control over the joint venture.

 The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments 
are made to bring the accounting policies into line with those of the Group.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in joint ventures are accounted for at cost less any impairment loss. 

2.9 forest asset

 In 2007, the forest asset was measured at its fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs by an independent professional valuer. The fair 
value of the forest asset was estimated based on market price of the standing stock of forest asset in its present location and condition. 
Any gain or loss arising from changes in fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of forest asset is recognised in the income statement 
for the period in which it arises. 

 In 2008, the forest asset was valued by an independent professional valuer, using discounted cashflow (“DCF”) projections in arriving at 
the fair value of the forest asset. 

 Deferred tax liability arising from the temporary difference between the tax base of forest asset and its carrying amount is accounted 
for in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.27(b).

2.10 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

 Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment and furniture and fixtures are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

 Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows:

 Leasehold land and buildings 15 to 50 years 

 Plant and machinery  5 to 15 years

 Motor vehicles 5 years

 Furniture and fittings 5 years

 Office equipment and computers 3 years
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Assets under construction included in plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use. 

 Leasehold land and buildings includes buildings, forestry and fire protection infrastructures. Plant and machinery includes field 
equipment.

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the amount, method 
and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic 
benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the assets is included in the income statement in the year the asset is 
derecognised.

2.11 investment properties 

 Investment properties are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, 
which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. Professional valuation is performed once every three years. Gains or 
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in the income statement in the year which they 
arise. 

 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal 
of an investment property are recognised in the income statement in the year of retirement or disposal.

 Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property to 
owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. For a transfer 
from owner occupied property to investment property, the property is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for 
property, plant and equipment set out in Note 2.10 up to the date of change in use.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12 Goodwill

 Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired. 

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication 
that the cash-generating unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit, including the allocated 
goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill 
are not reversed in subsequent periods. 

 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-generating unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain 
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the 
operations disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations and translated in 
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.4. 

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisition of foreign operations before 1 January 2005 are deemed to be assets 
and liabilities of the Company and are recorded in SGD at the rates prevailing at the date of acquisition. 

2.13 impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use 
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted 
to their present value. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

 Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation was 
taken to equity. In this case the impairment is also recognised in equity up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.13 impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses 
may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased cannot exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised 
in the income statement unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase. 

2.14 financial assets 

 Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument.

 When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On derecognition 
of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any 
cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income statement.

 All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the market place concerned.

 (a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

  Financial assets held for trading are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets held for 
trading are derivatives (including separated embedded derivatives) or financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling or repurchasing in the near term.

  Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or 
losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in the income statement. Net gains or net 
losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include exchange differences, interest and dividend income.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.14 financial assets (cont’d)

 (b) Loans and receivables

  Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and 
receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, 
and through the amortisation process.

  The Group classifies the following financial assets as loans and receivables:

  l Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2.15), and

  l		 Trade and other receivables.

 (c) available-for-sale financal assets

  Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are not classified in any of the other categories. After initial 
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the 
financial asset are recognised directly in the fair value adjustment reserve in equity, except that impairment losses, foreign 
exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised 
in the income statement. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement 
when the financial asset is derecognised. 

  Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment loss. 

2.15 cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, unsecured fixed deposits and unsecured bank overdrafts repayable 
on demand that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. 

2.16 impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. 

 (a) assets carried at cost

  If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where the issuer operates, 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at 
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 
impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

 (b) available-for-sale financial assets

  Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, and the 
disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence that 
investment securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are impaired. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008



Annual Report 2008      57   

2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.16 impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

 (c) assets carried at amortised cost

  If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

  When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly or if an amount 
was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written off against the carrying 
value of the financial asset.

  To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the Group 
considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant 
delay in payments.

  If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that 
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised 
in the income statement.

2.17 construction work-in-progress 

 Construction work-in-progress comprises uncompleted building contracts. It is valued at cost plus a proportion of estimated profits 
earned to date less progress billings received or receivable, using the percentage of completion method. The stage of completion 
is determined by reference to architect certification. When reference to architect certification is not available in a timely manner, 
the stage of completion is determined by reference to the past experience and knowledge of the internal quantity surveyors. Full 
provision is made for estimated losses to completion where applicable.

 Cost comprises materials, labor, other overhead and incidental costs including interest expense.

2.18 completed properties held for sale

 Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes land, development and 
all other incidental expenditure, including interest incurred during the period of construction. Net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in selling the property.

 When losses are expected, full provision is made in the accounts after adequate allowance has been made for estimated costs to 
completion. Any expenditure incurred on abortive projects is written off in the income statement.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.19 inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present locations 
and conditions are accounted for as follows:

 (a) Raw materials refer to purchase cost on a first-in-first-out basis.

 (b) Finished goods and work-in-progress refers to costs of direct materials and labor and a proportion of manufacturing overheads 
based on normal operating capacity. These costs are assigned on a first-in-first-out basis.

 (c) Agricultural produce comprises logs. Agricultural produce at the point of harvest is measured on initial recognition at its fair 
value less estimated point-of-sale costs.

2.20 Borrowing costs 

 Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred except to the extent that they are capitalised. Borrowing costs 
are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures 
and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use or sale. 

2.21 financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument.

 Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities other than derivatives, directly 
attributable transaction costs.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except 
for derivatives, which are measured at fair value.

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. For financial liabilities other than 
derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised or impaired, and through 
the amortisation process. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are recognised in the income statement. 
Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences.

2.22 interest bearing loans and borrowings

 (a) Borrowings

  Borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.

  After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

  Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.22 interest bearing loans and borrowings (cont’d)

 (b) convertible bonds

  The conversion option of convertible bonds exhibits characteristics of an embedded derivative. The derivative is separated from 
the liability component. On initial recognition, the derivative component of the convertible bond is measured at fair value and 
presented as part of the derivative financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the 
derivative component is recognised as the liability component. The liability component is measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are recognised initially as part of the 
liability.

 (c) derivative liability

  Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivative financial instruments are taken to the income statement 
for the year.

2.23 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reasonably.

 Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that 
an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.24 employee benefits

 (a) defined contribution plans

  The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations. 
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service 
is performed.

 (b) employee leave entitlement

  Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees. The estimated liability 
for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.25 Leases - as lessee

 Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged to income statement. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

 Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term, if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 
aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

2.26 revenue

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

 (a) construction contracts 

  Contract revenue and contract costs are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date, when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated 
reliably. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable and contract costs are recognised as expense in the period 
in which they are incurred. An expected loss on the construction contract is recognised as an expense immediately when it 
is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue. 

  Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in contract work, claims and 
incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and they are capable of being reliably 
measured. 

  The stage of completion is determined by reference to the architect certification.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.26 revenue (cont’d)

 (b) sale of goods

  Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to 
the customer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the 
consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.

 (c) interest income

  Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

 (d) dividend income

  Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

 (e) Management fee

  Management fee is recognised when corporate services are rendered.

 (f) rental income

  Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate 
costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line 
basis.

2.27  income taxes

 (a) current tax

  Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. 
The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date. 

  Current taxes are recognised in the income statement except that tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is 
recognised directly in equity.

 (b) deferred tax

  Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:
 
  l Where the deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

  l		 In respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
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2.27  income taxes (cont’d)

 (b) deferred tax (cont’d)

  In respect of deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, if it is not 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference and carry-forward of unused 
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. 

  The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 

  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date.

  Deferred taxes are recognised in the income statement except that deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in 
equity is recognised directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 
acquisition.

 (c) sales tax

  Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

  l Where the sales tax incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item 
as applicable; and

  l		 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

  The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

2.28 segment reporting

 A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services that are subject to 
risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is a distinguishable component 
of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks 
and returns that are different from those of components operating in other economic environments.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.29 financial guarantee 

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it 
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due. 

 Financial guarantees are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are recognised as 
income in the income statement over the period of the guarantee. If it is probable that the liability will be higher than the amount 
initially recognised less amortisation, the liability is recorded at the higher amount with the difference charged to the income 
statement. 

3. Group companies

 Details of the subsidiaries and associates are as follows:
     Percentage of
  country of  cost less equity held
 Name of company incorporation Principal activities impairment by the Group
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000 % %
          

Held by the company        
    

 Poh Lian Construction Pte Ltd (1) Singapore Building contractor &  5,896 5,874 100 100
    property developer
   
 Poh Lian Development Pte Ltd (1,4) Singapore Dormant – – 100 100
          

Poh Lian International Pte Ltd (1,4) Singapore Dormant – – – 100
          

Poh Lian Trading Pte Ltd (1,4,6) Singapore Dormant – – 100 100
          

Yew Hock Trading Pte Ltd (1,4,6) Singapore Dormant – – 100 100
          

Unifiber Holding Pte Ltd (1,4)    Singapore Investment holding – – 100 100
          

Sin Poh Lian Sdn Bhd (3a,4,6) Malaysia Investment holding – – 100 100
          

Anrof Singapore Ltd (2) Mauritius Investment holding 125,441 124,953 100 100
          

Poh Lian (Cambodia) Ltd (4,5) Cambodia Dormant – – 100 100
          

Able Advance Ltd (4,5) British Virgin  Trading  – – 100 100
   Islands  

     131,337 130,827  
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3. Group companies (cont’d)

 Details of the subsidiaries and associates are as follows: 

     Percentage of
  country of  equity held
 Name of company incorporation Principal activities by the Group
    2008 2007
    % %
        

 Held through subsidiaries      
      

 Subsidiaries      
 

 Poh Lian Realty Pte Ltd (1) Singapore Property development 100 100
       
 Poh Lian Construction Scaffolding Pte Ltd (1) Singapore Construction services 100 100
       
 Fortune Nest Sdn Bhd (3a,6) Malaysia Property investment 100 100
       
 Dongshan Poh Lian Real Estate Co. Ltd (3b) People’s Republic  Property investment 100 100
   of China     

 PT Hutan Rindang Banua (2) Indonesia Forestry operation 100 100
       
 PT Marga Buana Bumi Mulia (2) Indonesia Development of a mill 100 100
       
 PT Mangium Anugerah Lestari (2) Indonesia Manufacturing 99 99
       
 Pacificwood Investment Ltd (2) Mauritius Investment holding and trading 100 100
       
 Shinning Spring Resources Ltd (5) British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100 100
       
 Associates      

 
 Magnate Property Sdn Bhd (3a) Malaysia Property investment – 48
       
 Poh Lian Training & Management  Bangladesh Dormant 30 30
    (Bangladesh) Pvt Ltd (5)      

   

(1) Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore
(2) Audited by member firms of Ernst & Young Global in the respective countries
(3) Audited by other firms
 (3a) S.C. Tang & Associates, Malaysia
 (3b) Dongshan Yongdexin Certified Public Accountants, People’s Republic of China
(4) Cost of investment does not exceed US$1,000
(5) Exempted/not required to be audited by the law of its country of incorporation
(6) In the process of voluntary liquidation
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4. revenue

 Group
   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

 Construction contract revenue  103,611 81,520
 Sale of logs   2,230 –
 Sale of woodchips  7,943 1,337
 Rental income  1 68

     113,785 82,925

  
  
5. other income

 Group
   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

 Waiver of interest and penalty for reforestation loan   – 1,810 
 Compensation received (1)   903 –
 Net fair value gain on financial instruments  118 1,693
 Gain from disposal of investment in associate   1,718 –
 Others    377 734 

     3,116 4,237

    
` (1) Compensation received for illegal encroachment on the forest asset. 

6. finance costs

 Group
   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

    
 Interest expense on bank loans and bonds  4,552 3,687
 Interest expense on bank overdrafts  141 119
 Amortisation of transaction cost  671 1,120
 Financing commitment fees  – 210
 Loss on redemption on convertible bonds  458 –
 Others   35 39

     5,857 5,175
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7. (Loss)/Profit before tax

 (Loss)/Profit before tax is derived after charging/(crediting) the following:

 Group
   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

 
 Allowance for doubtful debts  – 1,477
 Write down of inventories  158 –
 Auditors’ remuneration – non-audit services  132 148
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11(e))  2,928 2,436
 Directors’ fees  155 192
 Foreign exchange (gain)/losses    
    - realised  (16) (77)
    - unrealised  4,487 773
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (77) (94)
 Gain on disposal of investment property  – (20)
 Write back of provision for other investments  – (23)
 Interest income  (24) (379)
 Gain on disposal of other investments  – (31)
 Property, plant and equipment written-off (Note 11)  324 50
 Impairment in club membership  – 38 
 Staff costs    
    - contribution to defined contribution plans  297 246
    - salaries, wages, bonuses and other costs  4,264 3,442

    
   
8. tax (benefit)/expense

 The major components of tax (benefit)/expense for the year ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are:

 Group
   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

 Current income tax    
    - Singapore  317 235
    - Overseas  – 1
 Deferred income tax     
    - Singapore  277 (220)
    - Overseas  (26,588) 8,009

     (25,994) 8,025
 Under provision in respect of previous years   – 211

    
 Tax (benefit)/expense for the year  (25,994) 8,236
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8. tax (benefit)/expense (cont’d)

 The reconciliation between the tax (benefit)/expenses and the product of accounting (loss)/profit multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

 Group
   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

    
 (Loss)/Profit before tax  (92,947) 9,153

    
 Tax at the domestic rates applicable to (loss)/profit in the
    countries where the Group operates  (30,783) 3,136
    
 Adjustments:    
 Permanent differences and/or expenses not deductible for tax purposes  1,266 2,939
 Tax effect on partial exemption  (19) –
 Deferred tax assets not recognised  3,292 2,342
 Deferred tax liability recognised  277 –
 Tax effect on under/(over) provision in respect of previous years  6 (170)
 Others   (33) (11) 

 Tax (benefit)/expenses  (25,994) 8,236

    

 The Group has unabsorbed tax losses of approximately US$14,036,000 (2007: US$3,240,000) and unabsorbed capital allowances of 
approximately US$Nil (2007: US$313,000) predominantly in Indonesia available for offset against future taxable income, subject to 
the agreement of the respective domestic tax authorities in the countries concerned. 

 The Corporate income tax rate applicable to Singapore companies of the Group was reduced to 18% for the year of assessment 2008 
onwards from 20% for year of assessment 2007.

9. (Loss)/earnings per share

 Basic (loss)/earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net (loss)/earnings for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

 Diluted loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net (loss)/earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 
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9. (Loss)/earnings per share (cont’d)

 The following reflects the income statement and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

             Group
   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

    
 Net (loss)/profit net of tax for the year attributable to ordinary 
    equity holders of the parent company for basic and 
    diluted earnings per share  (66,953) 917 

 
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue 
    applicable to basic earnings per share  2,316,358 2,310,814
    
 Effect of issuance of 89,558,000 shares as second tranche 
    consideration shares   – 89,558
    
 Effect of issuance of 2,914,953 shares as settlement of 
    deferred cash consideration  – 2,915

  Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares    
     applicable to diluted earnings per share  2,316,358 2,403,287

    

 81,320,000 (2007: 107,000,000) shares that would be issued on full conversion of the convertible bond have not been included in 
the calculation of diluted earning per share because they are anti-dilutive for the current and previous financial periods presented.

10. forest asset

 Group
   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

    
 At 1 January   249,507 226,188
 Costs incurred during the year (1)  2,527 3,633
 (Loss)/Gain arising from changes in fair    
     value less estimated point-of-sale costs (2)  (63,805) 18,898
 Net exchange differences  1,193 788 

 At 31 December  189,422 249,507

    

 (1) Included in costs incurred during the year is depreciation of US$653,000 (2007: US$658,000) (Note 11(e)).
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10. forest asset (cont’d)

             Group
     2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
    
 (2) (Loss)/Gain arising from changes in fair value of forest asset  (63,805) 18,898
   Gain arising from changes in fair value of logs  harvested   – 4,393 

   Total fair value (loss)/gain   (63,805) 23,291

    
 The valuation of the forest asset is based on the report issued by an independent professional valuer, Pöyry Forest Industry Pte 

Ltd (“Pöyry”). The independent valuer deployed the use of discounted cashflow (“DCF”) projections in arriving at the fair value of 
the forest asset as at 31 December 2008 of US$189 million. The DCF projections yielded a lower value as compared to the value 
derived using standing stock method employed in previous financial years. Management assessed the indicative value of the forest 
asset if standing stock valuation were used to be approximately US$212 million (compared to US$189 million derived from DCF 
projections).  

 Further details of the total carrying value are as follows:

  2008 2007
  Hectares us$’000 Hectares us$’000

 Forest Entity     
Existing Plantation Forest 36,102 126,185 52,754 172,897

 Utilisable Natural Forest 39,841 63,237 31,000 76,610
     

 Total 75,943 189,422 83,754 249,507

        
 Critical assumptions adopted in the DCF include:

 (a) the adoption of a discount factor of 11%
 (b) a constant volume of logs harvested throughout the projections
 (c) a moderate price increase of 3% for the first three years and at a constant price throughout the rest of the projections

 The fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of logs harvested during the year was US$1,377,868 (2007: US$6,722,000). 
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11. Property, plant and equipment

     computers, office
  Leasehold land Plant and Motor equipment, furniture capital work
 Group and buildings machinery vehicles and fittings -in progress total  

 us$’000  us$’000   us$’000   us$’000   us$’000  us$’000

 cost        
At 1 January 2007 13,351 1,941 1,076 733 38,415 55,516

 Additions 818 2,875 451 388 2,466 6,998
 Transfer (from)/to 626  38,077 – – (38,703) –
 Disposals (8,333) (122) – (12) – (8,467)
 Written off – (496) (31) (288) – (815) 
 Net exchange differences 330 112 25 35 55 557

          
At 31 December 2007 

    and 1 January 2008 6,792 42,387 1,521 856 2,233 53,789
 Additions 78 1,769 11 250 1,020 3,128
 Transfer (from)/to 154 3,085 – 14 (3,253) –
 Disposals (151) (174) (217) (23) – (565)
 Written off – (465) – (8) – (473)
 Net exchange differences (840) (218) 25 28 – (1,005)

 At 31 December 2008 6,033 46,384 1,340 1,117 – 54,874 

 accumulated depreciation 
 At 1 January 2007 4,810 1,557 457 498   – 7,322
 Charge for the year 681 2,335 307 183 – 3,506
 Disposals  (2,529) (94) – (12) – (2,635)
 Written off – (457) (31) (277) – (765)
 Net exchange differences 50 107 29 29 – 215

 
 At 31 December 2007 and 
    1 January 2008 3,012 3,448 762 421 – 7,643
 Charge for the year 591 3,007 173 231 – 4,002
 Disposals  (27) (175) (166) (10) – (378)
 Written off – (141) – (8) – (149)
 Net exchange differences (557) (94) 71 28 – (552)

 At 31 December 2008 3,019 6,045 840 662 – 10,566

          
Net carrying amount        
   

 At 31 December 2007 3,780 38,939 759 435 2,233 46,146

          
at 31 december 2008 3,014 40,339 500 455 – 44,308
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

     computers, 
     office equipment, 
   Leasehold land Motor furniture and
 company and building vehicles fittings total  

 us$’000  us$’000  us$’000  us$’000 
 
 cost      

At 1 January 2007 7,879 3 266 8,148
 Additions –   – 276 276
 Disposal (8,332) – – (8,332)
 Written off –   – (186) (186)
 Net exchange differences  453 – 17 470

        
At 31 December 2007 and

    1 January 2008 – 3 373 376
 Additions – – 63 63
 Disposal – – (5) (5)
 Net exchange differences  – – 3 3

 At 31 December 2008 – 3 434 437

        
accumulated depreciation

 At 1 January 2007 2,346 2 207 2,555
 Charge for the year 84 1 78 163
 Disposals (2,529) – – (2,529)
 Written off –   – (179) (179)
 Net exchange differences 99 (2) 20 117

 At 31 December 2007 and 
    1 January 2008 – 1 126 127
 Charge for the year – 1 104 105
 Disposals – – (3) (3)
 Net exchange differences – – (2) (2)

 At 31 December 2008 – 2 225 227

        
Net carrying amount     

 At 31 December 2007 – 2 247 249

        
 At 31 December 2008 – 1 209 210
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 (a) Leasehold land and buildings 

  The details of the leasehold land and buildings are as follows:

  (i) The land on which the woodchip mill is located at South Kalimantan, Indonesia with net book value of US$1,039,000 
(2007: US$919,000).

  (ii) The land on which a pulp mill plant will be constructed is located at Kalimantan Selatan, Indonesia with net book 
value of US$682,000 (2007: US$682,000).

  (iii) Building and infrastructure with net book value of US$825,000 (2007: US$1,312,000) related to the forest 
operation.

 (b)  Assets pledged as security

  Assets of the wood chip mill with net book value of US$37,103,000 as at 31 December 2008 (2007: US$37,069,000) has 
been charged for borrowings by the Group (Note 27). 

 (c) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

  The Group’s plant and equipment includes borrowing costs incurred in connection to the construction of a wood chip mill. 
During the financial year, the borrowing costs capitalised as cost of plant and equipment amounted to US$Nil (2007: 
US$447,000) for the year ended 31 December 2008.

 (d)  Assets held under finance lease

  During the year, the Group acquired plant and machinery with an aggregate fair value of US$1,401,000 (2007: US$92,000) 
by means of finance leases. The carrying value of motor vehicles, computer, office equipment and furniture and fittings held 
under finance leases as at 31 December 2008 was US$1,801,000 (2007: US$375,000).

  Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities (Note 26).

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008



Annual Report 2008      73   

11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 (e) Depreciation charge

  Details of the depreciation charge for the year are as follows:

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
   Charged to Income statement    
      - other operating expenses (Note 7)  2,928 2,436
      - cost of goods sold  241 89
   Capitalised in construction work-in-progress/  
      construction progress billings in excess of costs (Note 20)  180 180
   Capitalised in forest asset (Note 10)  653 658
   Capitalised in inventory – finished goods 
      (Note 22)  – 143

   Depreciation for the financial year  4,002 3,506
    

12. amounts due from subsidiaries

 company
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
   Amounts due from subsidiaries  105,639 95,851
   Less: Allowance for doubtful debts  (15,717) (15,509)

      89,922 80,342

    
  At the balance sheet date, the Company have provided an allowance of US$145,000 (2007: US$4,182,000) for allowance for 

doubtful amounts due from subsidiaries.

  The amounts due from subsidiaries are deemed as part of the Company’s net investments in the respective subsidiaries. They 
are unsecured, interest-free and not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months.

  The currency profile of amounts due from subsidiaries as at the financial year end is as follows: 

 company
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

 
   •USD   17,737 –
   •SGD   57,685 80,342  

  •IDR   14,500 –

      89,922 80,342
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13. investment in subsidiaries

 company
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 Unquoted equity shares, at cost  132,233 131,723
 Less: Impairment loss  (896) (896)

      131,337 130,827

    
 Details of investments subsidiaries are provided in Note 3.

14. investment in associates

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 Unquoted equity shares, at cost  1 191
 Less: Impairment loss  (1) (191) 

      – –

    
 On 3 April 2008, the Group’s subsidiary company, Poh Lian Construction Pte Ltd sold its 48% equity interest in Magnate Property Sdn 

Bhd.

 Details of associates are provided in Note 3.

15. investment properties 

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

  At 1 January   – –  
 Transfer from completed properties held for sale  1,369 –

 Exchange differences  102 – 

 At 31 December  1,471 –

    
 Included in investment properties are commercial and residential units with a site area of approximately 4,347 square meters, situated 

in Dongshan, People’s Republic of China. In prior year, the properties were classified as completed properties held for sale.

 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined by the Directors based on valuations at the balance 
sheet date. Valuations are performed by accredited independent valuers with recent experience in the location and category of the 
properties being valued.
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16. other investments

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

        
 at fair value       

Quoted equity shares  – 59 – 59

        
 During the financial year, the Company sold the investments in quoted equity shares. 

17. club membership

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 Cost    118 118
 Less: Impairment loss  (49) (49)

       69  69

    
 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

 At valuation    77 76

  
  
18. deferred tax

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

 deferred tax liabilities    
 Excess of tax written down value over net book value of    
     plant and machinery  (813) (388)
 Revaluation of forest asset  (40,567) (66,755)

    
 Gross deferred tax liabilities  (41,380) (67,143)

    
 deferred tax assets     
  Temporary differences arising from plant and equipment  210 79 

 Net deferred tax liabilities  (41,170) (67,064)
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19. Goodwill on consolidation

    Group
    us$’000

 cost    
 At 1 January 2007  19,163
 Net exchange differences 1,237

    
 At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 20,400
 Net exchange differences 79

 At 31 December 2008 20,479

    
 Net carrying amount   

 At 31 December 2007 20,400

    
 At 31 December 2008 20,479

    
 Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to Construction and Property segment, the identified cash-

generating unit (“CGU”), for impairment testing.

 The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial 
budget approved by management covering a 10-year period. Management believes that the Construction and Property Division will 
continue to operate over the 10-year period.

 The discount rate applied is assumed at 10% for value in use calculation, which is the Group’s estimated weighted average cost of 
capital.

 Management has considered and determined the factors applied in this financial budget which include budgeted gross margin and 
average growth rate. The budgeted gross margin is based on expectation of future market development. 
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20. construction work-in-progress/construction progress billings in excess of costs

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 construction work-in-progress    
 Cost incurred   205,033 180,118
 Add : Attributable profits recognised progressively  6,267 11,612

      211,300 191,730
 Less: Progress billings received and receivable  (210,253) (191,404)

      1,047 326

    
 construction progress billings in excess of costs    
 Progress billings received and receivable  322,424 345,223
 Less: Costs incurred  (284,104) (323,235)
        Attributable profits recognised progressively  (17,281) (14,790)

      21,039 7,198

    
 Included in costs incurred during the financial year are the following:

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11(e))  180 180
 Operating lease charges  157 63
 Staff costs:   
    - Contribution to defined contribution plans  330 218
    - Salaries, wages, bonuses and other costs  4,387 2,496

   
 Both construction work-in-progress and construction progress billings in excess of costs are denominated in SGD. 

21. completed properties held for sale

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 At 1 January   1,369 1,369

 Transfer to investment properties  (1,369) –

  At 31 December  – 1,369

 The completed properties comprised commercial and residential units held for sale with site area of approximately 4,347 square 
meters, situated in Dongshan, People’s Republic of China. The completed property has been reclassified to investment properties 
during the financial year as the sale of the property is not probable within the next 12 months.
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22. inventories

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

 Raw materials, at cost  189 1,185
 Logs    1,135 6,506
 Finished goods, at cost  328 1,775 

 Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value  1,652 9,466

    
 Included in inventory is depreciation expense amounting to US$Nil (2007: US$143,000) (Note 11(e)).

 During the financial year, the write down of inventories amounted to US$158,000 (2007: Nil)

23. trade and other receivables 

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 financial assets       
Trade receivables  33,560 26,302 – –

 Advances to PT KK (Note 40)  28,286 28,286 – –
 Deposits   439 929 70 63
 Receivables from subsidiaries:       

   - Trade   – – 113 –
    - Non-trade  – – – 1,663
 Other receivables  2,194 3,536 104 93

    64,479 59,053 287 1,819
 Less: Allowance for doubtful debt  (2,729) (2,729) – (883)

    61,750 56,324 287 936
        
 Non-financial assets       

Prepayments   1,247 8,811 42 7,195

    62,997 65,135 329 8,131

 Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24)   8,847  6,733  133  1,382

 Total loans and loan receivables    71,844 71,868  462  9,513

        
 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 60 days’ terms. They are recognised at their original invoice 

amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

 As at 31 December 2008, US$14.1 million (2007: US$9.2 million) of retention sums relating to construction contracts are included in 
trade receivables.

 Non-trade receivables from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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23. trade and other receivables (cont’d)

 Trade debtors that are past due but not impaired

 The Company has trade debtors amounting to US$13,780,000 (2007: US$10,400,000) that are past due at the balance sheet date 
but not impaired. These debtors are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the balance sheet date is as follows:

   2008 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

 Trade debtors past due :    
61 to 120 days  2,664 566

 121 to 180 days 1,419 513
 More than 180 days 9,697 9,321

    
 Trade debtors that are impaired

 Trade debtors that are impaired at the balance sheet date amounted to US$1,101,910 (2007: US$1,101,910). 

 The currency profile of trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) as at the financial year end is as follows: 

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

        
 USD   29,649 28,868 – –
 SGD   31,896 25,910 287 936
 Indonesia Rupiah (“IDR”)  173 1,509 – –
 Others   32 37 – –

    61,750 56,324 287 936
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24. cash and cash equivalents

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

        
 Cash on hand  20 55 1 2
 Cash at banks  7,496 4,186 132 1,320
 Fixed deposits, unsecured  – 1,109 – –

    7,516 5,350 133 1,322
 Fixed deposits, secured  1,331 1,383 – 60

    8,847 6,733 133 1,382

        
 The secured fixed deposits are pledged to secure the Group’s banking facilities issued by the financial institutions, of which 

approximately US$1,331,000 (2007: US$1,383,000) is secured against bank overdrafts as stated in Note 27(ii). 

 The currency profile of cash and cash equivalents as at the financial year end is as follows: 

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

        
 USD   826 1,503 – 451
 SGD   7,926 4,378 133 276
 IDR   24 730 – 655
 Others   71 122 – –

    8,847 6,733 133 1,382
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25. trade and other payables

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

       
 financial liabilities      

Trade payables  18,069 20,327 – –
 Accrued expenses  2,846 2,364 493 282
  Accrual for Directors’ fee
    and variable bonus  335 340 335 340
 Non-trade payables  1,163 – – –
 Non-trade payables to subsidiaries(1)  – – 9,196 10,765
 Loan payables to subsidiaries(2)  – – 8,000 –
 Payable for purchase of assets (3)  – 21,500   – –
 Others    1,382 917 622 373

    23,795 45,448 18,646 11,760

 Add: Loans and borrowings  62,699 39,125 28,349 23,951
              Other liabilities  1,968 891 285 405

       
 Total financial liabilities carried at amortised costs  88,462 85,464 47,280 36,116

 (1) Non-trade payables to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.  

 (2) Loans payable to subsidiaries bear interest of 4.8% to 8.85% US$3,000,000 is repayable on 9 April 2009 and US$5,000,000 
is repayable on 30 April 2009 respectively.

 (3) Payable for purchase of assets relate to supplier credit from a vendor for the construction of woodchip mill. This amount has 
been reclassified to long-term payable (Note 28 (i)).

 Included in other payables is an amount of US$139,000 due to a Director and an amount of US$228,000 due to corporations of 
which certain of the Directors are either shareholders or Directors of the Company. The amount of US$139,000 due to the Director 
was repaid subsequent to year end.

 The currency profile of trade and other payables as at the financial year end is as follows: 

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

        
 USD   1,894 23,003 8,000 –
 SGD   19,318 20,118 10,646 11,760
 IDR   2,419 2,138 – –
 Others   164 189 – –

    23,795 45,448 18,646 11,760

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008



82      Annual Report 2008

26. Hire purchase creditors

 Group
     Present  Present
    Minimum value of Minimum value of
    payments payments payments payments  

   2008 2008 2007 2007
    us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

        
 Within one year  396 360 177 116
 After one year but not more than five years  1,067 938 115 121

        
 Total minimum payments  1,463 1,298 292 237
 Less : Amounts representing interest  (165) – (55) –

        
 Present value of minimum payments  1,298 1,298 237 237

        
 The finance lease obligations are secured over the leased assets (Note 11(d)). The average discount rate implicit in the lease is 5.09% 

(2007: 6.4%). These obligations are denominated in the respective financial currencies of the Group.

 The hire purchase plans do not contain any renewal option or escalation clauses and do not provide for contingent rents. There are 
no restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into these leases.

27. short term loans and borrowings

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

        
 Current portion of long-term loans, secured (i)  4,312 11,769 – –
 Bank overdrafts, secured (ii)  1,288 2,023 – –
 Short-term loan, secured (iii)  8,000 1,382 – –
 Short-term loan, unsecured (iv)  8,697 – 8,697 –

    22,297 15,174 8,697 –

       

 (i) This loan relates to the construction of the wood chip mill and is secured by all assets of the wood chip mill (Note 11(b)), 
a corporate guarantee of the Company and legal mortgage over the shares of a subsidiary. The loan bears effective interest 
from 4.9% to 10.75% is repayable on May 5, 2009. 

  In addition, a subsidiaries of the Group did not fulfill the requirement to sell a certain agreed upon quantity of woodchips per 
year, and to meet a current ratio agreed upon. The subsidiary has received a waiver from the bank for the above breaches 
for the year ended 31 December 2008.  
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27. short term loans and borrowings (cont’d)

  Subsequent to the year end, Management has obtained approval from the bank for reduced monthly installments on the bank 
loan with the final installment payable in February 2010. In addition, the bank is also considering to waive the above breaches 
up to the period ending 30 September 2009. As at the date of the financial statements, such waiver is still in process. The 
Board is confident however that the Company will obtain such waiver from the bank. 

 
 (ii) The bank overdrafts are secured by a fixed deposit of a subsidiary (Note 24), a corporate guarantee given by the Company 

and proceeds from certain construction projects of a subsidiary, and bear effective interest from 5.5% to 6.5% (2007: 5.5% 
to 6.5%) per annum. 

  During the current financial year, a subsidiary of the Company has breached certain covenants relating to its’ bank loans. The 
subsidiary did not fulfill the requirement that intercompany receivables are not to exceed US$15 million. The subsidiary has 
requested and has been granted a waiver of the breach as of 31 December 2008 by the bank. The amount drawn down 
on this credit facility as at 31 December 2008 was US$1.3 million which has since been fully repaid as at the date of this 
financial report. Subsequent to the year end, the covenant was modified to require the subsidiary to keep the loan receivable 
from the holding company at less than US$14 million. The facility has also been modified to be available only for the use of 
issuance of bankers’ guarantees and a bridging loan facility. The subsidiary is in breach of the modified covenant at the date 
of the financial statements but continues to maintain the facility undrawn as at the date of this financial report. The bankers’ 
guarantees under this facility were issued for an amount of up to approximately US$3.4 million. As the date of this financial 
statement, the Board regards the amount of exposure to the subsidiary  under these bankers’ guarantees to be approximately 
US$0.5 million which is the amount relating to work not completed under the projects. Such exposure is secured by a pledge 
of a fixed deposit of US$0.4 million maintained by the subsidiary with the bank. 

 (iii) In prior year, this loan is secured by proceeds from certain construction projects of a subsidiary, and bears effective interest 
from 5.3% to 6.6%. In the current year, the loan is secured by a corporate guarantee given by the Company and bears 
effective interest from 4.8% to 8.85%. US$3 million is repayable on 9 April 2009 and US$5 million is repayable on 30 April 
2009.

 (iv) On 29 July 2008, the Company entered into a new subscription agreement and a note deed poll for Series A Equity Loan 
Note of US$12 million. This loan is not secured and the proceeds of this loan will be used for general working capital and 
bears effective interest of 12.66% per annum (2007: Nil). During the year, the loan note had been paid down progressively 
by way of cash and issue of new shares and as at 31 December 2008, the amount outstanding was US$8.7 million. 

  The currency profile of amounts due to financial institutions as at the financial year end is as follows: 

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

        
  USD  21,009 11,770 8,697 –
`  SGD  1,288 3,404 – –

    22,297 15,174 8,697 –
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28. Long term loans and borrowings

 Group company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
   us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

        
 Long-term loan (i)  20,750 – – –
 Zero coupon convertible bond (ii)  19,652 23,951 19,652 23,951

    40,402 23,951 19,652 23,951

 (i) Relates to supplier credit from a vendor for the construction of the woodchip mill.  The loan bears interest at effective interest 
rate of 6% and is repayable in 24 monthly installments commencing on 5 September 2010. This amount was reclassified 
from trade and other payables in prior year (Note 25) to long term borrowings in current year.  

 (ii) On 6 August 2007, the Company issued a 5-year unsecured zero coupon convertible bond of an aggregate principal amount of 
US$25,000,000 (collectively, the “Bond”) at an issue price of 100% of the principal amounts of the Bond. The Bond matures on 
6 August 2012 but the bondholder has the right to require the Company to redeem some or all of the outstanding amounts 
between the inception date and 13 August 2008 and between 13 August 2009 and 13 August 2010 (both days inclusive) 
for an amount equal to the relevant principal portion plus the yield to redemption. The Bond is convertible into new ordinary 
shares in the capital of the Company (collectively, the “Conversion Shares”) at the conversion price of S$0.355 per Conversion 
Shares, subject to anti-dilution adjustments in accordance with the terms and conditions in the agreement. The Bond shall 
be redeemed upon maturity at a rate of 10% per annum.

  On 12 August 2008, there was a partial redemption of the convertible Bond amounting to US$6 million plus yield to maturity 
of 10% amounting to US$600,000.

  The conversion option of the convertible bond exhibits characteristics of an embedded derivative. The derivative components 
are measured separately at fair value on initial recognition. A one-factor model where stock prices are assumed to be 
stochastic (lognormal) while interest rates are assumed to be deterministic (defined by a fixed discount factor curve) is used. 
The methodology utilises a trinomial tree to model changes in the stock price which is determined by parameters such as 
the number of time steps and the (constant) volatility of the stock price.

 (iii) The convertible bond recognised in the balance sheet is calculated as follows:

    us$’000

   Face value of convertible bond on 6 August 2007 25,000
   Derivative component at fair value on inception date (2,168)

   Liability component at initial recognition on 6 August 2007 22,832
   Interest expense using effective interest rate method 1,119

   Liability component at 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 23,951
   Partial redemption of bonds (6,149)

   Interest expense using effective interest rate method 2,653

   Transaction costs (803)

   Carrying value of convertible bond at 31 December 2008 19,652
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28. Long term loans and borrowings (cont’d)

 (iv) The fair value of the derivative liability as at 31 December 2008 amounted to US$285,000 (2007: US$405,000)

29. share capital

  Group and company
  2008 2007
   No. of   No. of   
   shares  shares  
   ’000 us$’000 ’000 us$’000
        
 issued and fully paid (1)       

 
 At 1 January  2,310,814 209,560 2,310,814 209,560
 Issued during the year (2)  109,922 2,800   – –
        
 At 31 December  2,420,736 212,360 2,310,814 209,560

        
 (1) The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares 

carry one vote per share without restriction.

 (2)  Equity shares were issued as a partial repayment of the US$12 million Series A Equity Line Backed Loan Note at the 
corresponding price per shares:

  Number of shares issued  Price per share
    ‘000  (s$)
    5,952 0.0504
    6,000 0.0500
    10,393 0.0433
    11,029 0.0408
    15,957 0.0376
    19,868 0.0302
    19,947 0.0376
    20,776 0.0361
  

    109,922  
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30. comparative figures

 Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in the financial statements to conform with current year’s presentation and to better 
reflect the nature of the items. 

 Details of the reclassification are as follows:
 company
       as  
     as previously 
     reclassified reported
     2007 2007
    us$’000 us$’000

    
 Group

 Balance sheet:    

 Current liability:    
 Trade and other payable  11,760 8,710
    
 Non current liability:    
 Non-current payables  - 3,050
    
 Group

 Consolidated Balance sheet:    

 Current liability:    
 Trade and other payable  45,448 45,697
    
 Non current liability:    
 Non-current payables  249 -

    
  
31. operating lease commitments

 The Group and the Company lease certain properties under lease agreements that are non-cancellable within a year with no renewal 
option or escalation clauses included in the contracts. Lease terms do not contain restrictions concerning dividend, additional debts 
or further leasing. Operating lease payments recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account during the year amounted to 
US$18,000 (2007: US$16,000). 

 Future minimum lease payments for all leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more are as follows: 

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 Within one year  570 646
 After one year but not more than five years  503 958

      1,073 1,604
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32. capital commitment

 Pulp mill project

 On 22 February 2008, PT MBBM entered into a Turnkey Agreement (the “Agreement”) with China MCC20 Construction Co. Ltd 
(“MCC20”), a subsidiary of China Metallurgical Group Corporation (“MCC”) for the construction of a bleached hardwood kraft pulp mill 
in South Kalimantan with a capacity of 600,000 air dry tonnes per annum (the “Project”).

 In addition to the Turnkey Agreement, pursuant to the Supplier’s Credit Agreement entered into by PT MBBM and MCC20 on the 
same date, the Company had also secured 75% of funds required to construct the mill in the form of supplier’s credit from MCC20. 
The balance 25% was planned to be raised from a strategic partner and term sheets had previously been executed with them. Due 
to the adverse market situation post the execution of the term sheets, the discussions with the strategic partner have been pending 
and further discussions with them are expected to resume only when the overall market situation has improved. The Company is 
currently reviewing the situation, including the more realistic timing of the launch of the project and the availability of relevant 
alternative funding sources.

33. contingent liabilities

 (a) Certain subsidiaries are operating in countries where the practical application of tax legislation is subject to varying 
interpretations. There is a risk that these subsidiaries could be exposed to further tax liabilities on their income for current 
and prior years, if the tax authorities adopt a different interpretation of the tax legislation at the time of finalisation of these 
tax returns.

 (b)  Since year 2005, Poh Lian Development Pte Ltd (“PLD”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has initiated court 
proceedings in the High Court of the Republic of Singapore against Hok Mee Property Pte Ltd, Leong Hwa Monastery, Hok 
Chung Construction Co Pte Ltd and Kek Kim Hok (together the “Defendants”). PLD’s claims include recovery of a loan of US$9.25 
million made to the partnership. The Defendants have made counterclaims against PLD for an aggregate of approximately 
US$6.26 million excluding interest and costs.

  The Directors have received legal advice that PLD has strong defence for the aforesaid counterclaims which are likely to 
fail on the account of lack of merits or evidence. Note 39 to the financial statements provides further details of the legal 
proceedings.
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34. interests in joint ventures

 The Group has the following significant interests in joint ventures:

 (a) A 50% (2007: 50%) interest in a property development project with China Construction Realty Co. Pte Ltd; and

 (b) A 40% interest in a building contract with Shimizu Corporation.

 The Group is entitled to a proportionate share of the proceeds received and bears a proportionate share of the net results for the 
above joint ventures.

 The following amounts are included in the Group’s financial statements as a result of the proportionate consolidation of these joint 
ventures:

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 Current assets   303 352

    
 total assets   303 352
 Current liabilities  (270) (78) 

 Net assets   33 274

    
 Revenue   – 285
 Expenses   – (287)

      – (2)

    

35. related party disclosures

 An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Group for the purposes of the financial statements if:

 (i) it possesses the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or exercise significant influence over the operating and financial 
decisions of the Group or vice versa; or 

 (ii) it is subject to common control or common significant influence.
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35. related party disclosures (cont’d)

 sales and purchases of goods and services

 In addition to those related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant transactions 
between the Group and related parties who are not members of the Group took place during the year at terms agreed between the 
parties.

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 Paid to a company owned by a substantial shareholder of the Company    
    - retainer fee in connection to pulp mill project  – 398
    - business advisory fee in connection to forestry, pulp mill and wood chip mill  648 571

      648 969

    
 compensation of key management personnel

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

    
 Short-term employee benefits paid to    
    - Directors of the Company  1,177 1,471
    - other key management personnel  2,182 1,974 

 Total compensation paid to key management personnel  3,359 3,445

    
 Included in the compensation paid to key management personnel is Central Provident Fund contributions amounting to US$95,000 

(2007: US$76,000).

 corporate guarantee given to subsidiaries

 The Company has provided guarantees to banks for facilities granted to certain subsidiaries. The total facilities and drawn down 
amounts in respect of these bank facilities are as follows:

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

 Total facilities granted  81,904 61,483
 Total amounts drawn down:    
       - borrowings   (34,352) (36,671)
      - performance bonds and guarantees  (25,571) (10,122)

 The Company has agreed to provide continuing financial support to certain subsidiaries.
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36. financial risk management objectives and policies

 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The key 
financial risks include interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and commodity price risk. The Board of Directors 
reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight 
to the effectiveness of the risk management process. The Group and the Company do not apply hedge accounting. 

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks and 
the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 

 (a) interest rate risk

  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises 
primarily from their loans and borrowings and the issuance of a financial instrument to a strategic investor. 

  The Group’s policy is to manage interest expense by sourcing for competitive quotations for these loans and borrowings. 
Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks.

  Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

  At the balance sheet date, if SGD and USD interest rates had been 75 (2007: 75) basis points lower/higher with all other 
variables held constant, the Group’s profit net of tax would have been approximately US$7,000 (2007: US$12,000) higher/
lower, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings.

  Information relating to the Group’s interest rate exposure is also disclosed in Note 27 and 28.

 (b) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage 
of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatch of the maturities of financial 
assets and liabilities. 

  The Group’s objective is to maintain sufficient credit facilities for its operations. 

  To manage liquidity risk, the Group monitors its net operating cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash 
equivalents and secured committed funding facilities from financial institutions. In assessing the adequacy of the facilities, 
management reviews its working capital requirements regularly.
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36. financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities at the balance sheet 
date based on contractual undiscounted payments. 

  2008  2007
   1 year  1 to  1 year 1 to 5   

 or less 5 years total  or less years total  
 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

 
  Group
 
  Trade and other payables 23,795 – 23,795 45,448 – 45,448 
  Hire purchase creditors 360 938 1,298  116  121 237 
  Loans and borrowings  22,297 40,402 62,699 15,174 23,951 39,125 
  Derivative liability – 285 285 – 405 405

  Non-current payables – 385 385 – 249 249

   46,452 42,010 88,462 60,738 24,726 85,464

       
 (c)  credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its 
obligations. The Group and the Company exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables.

  Credit risk is limited to the risk arising from the inability of a debtor to make payments when due. It is the Group’s policy 
to provide credit terms to creditworthy customers. These debts are continually monitored and therefore, the Group does not 
expect to incur material credit losses.

  The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk 
exposure. For international trade transaction of significant value, the Group accepts letter of credit issued by a reputable 
international bank. The Construction Division bids for projects from developers with good financial standings. 

  The carrying amount of trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk. No other financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk.

  Note 40 provides in greater detail the concentration of credit risk associated with an advance to PT KK. 

  Exposure to credit risk

  At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 
amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheet.
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36. financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (c)  credit risk (cont’d)

  Credit risk concentration profile

  The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profile of its trade and other 
receivables on an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade and other receivables at the balance 
sheet date, is as follows: 

 2008 2007
   us$’000 % of total us$’000 % of total

 
 By country    
  Singapore  32,869 52% 34,444 53%
  Indonesia  28,839 46% 30,651 47%
  Others  1,289 2% 40 – 

  Total  62,997  65,135 

    
  By industry sector    
  Construction and property  32,671 52% 27,983 43%
  Forest and pulp  30,105 48% 30,651 47%
  Others  221 – 6,501 10%

  Total  62,997  65,135 

    
  At the balance sheet date, approximately: 

  - 45% (2007: 43%) of the Group’s trade and other receivables were due from PT KK (see Note 40 for more details)
  
  -  50% (2007: 38%) of the Group’s trade and other receivables were from external parties who are property 

developers.

  financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

  Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are due from credit worthy debtors. Cash and cash 
equivalents that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with reputable local or international banks with high credit 
ratings. 
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36. financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (c)  credit risk (cont’d)

  financial assets that are either past due or impaired (cont’d)

  Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired are disclosed in Note 23.

 (d) foreign currency risk

  The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily USD and IDR.

  The Group relies on operational cash flow to hedge against its foreign currency exposure. 

  Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk 

  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit net of tax to a reasonably possible change in the USD 
and IDR against SGD, with all other variables held constant.

 Group
    2008 2007
    us$ ‘ 000 us$ ‘ 000
    Profit net of tax Profit net of tax

   
  USD -  strengthened 3% 
    (2007: 3%) 1,117  742 
    -  weakened 3% 
    (2007: 3%) (1,117) (742)
  IDR -  strengthened 3%
    (2007: 3%) 11 23
   -  weakened 3% 
    (2007: 3%) (11) (23) 

  The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations in countries such 
as Indonesia, Malaysia, People’s Republic of China, Mauritius and British Virgin Islands. 

  The Group’s net investments in these countries are long term in nature.
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36. financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (e) commodity price risk

  Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in commodity prices.

  The Group is exposed to commodity price risk arising from changes in market value of the mature forest asset. 

  The Group is of the view that log and wood chip prices are stable. The Group’s objective is to monitor the trend of these 
commodity prices and would reduce level of harvesting activities in period of price decline. 

  Sensitivity analysis for commodity price risk 

  At the balance sheet date, if the price of logs had been 5% (2007: 5%) higher/lower with all other variables held constant, 
the Group’s profit net of tax would have been US$10,822,000 (2007: US$16,314,000) higher/lower, arising as a result of 
higher/lower fair value gains on the forest asset. 

 (f)  fair value of financial instruments

  The fair value of financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amount is not reasonable approximation 
of fair value are as follow:- 

  Group company
  Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
  us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000
    carrying  fair carrying fair carrying fair carrying fair  

   amount value amount amount amount value amount value

      

   financial 
       liabilities:           
  - Hire 
     purchase 
     creditors 26 938 893 121 137 - - - -
  - Zero Coupon 
     convertible 
     bond 28 19,652 23,584 23,951 25,585 19,652 23,584 23,951 25,585
          
  - Loans and 
     borrowings  28 20,750 18,188 - - - - - -

  Hire purchase creditors (Note 26), fixed rate loans and zero coupon convertible bond (Note 28)

  The fair values as disclosed in the table above are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at market incremental 
lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the balance sheet date.
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36. financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (f)  fair value of financial instruments (cont’d)

  Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 12)

  The amounts due from subsidiaries have no repayment terms and are repayable only when the cash flows of the borrower 
permits. Accordingly the fair value of the loan is not determinable as the timing of the future cash flows arising from the 
loan cannot be estimated reliably.

  Current trade and other receivables and payables (Notes 23 and 25), Non-current payables, Derivative liability (Note 28), and 
Non-current loans and borrowings at floating rate (Note 28).

  The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to their 
short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the balance 
sheet date. 

  As disclosed in Note 40, included in trade and other receivables are amounts of US$28.2 million due from PT KK. The 
management is of the opinion that these receivables are fully recoverable. The auditors have indicated that they are unable 
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to be satisfied that the said amounts would be fully recoverable and have 
made a note of this in their audit report.

37. capital Management 

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital 
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or 
adjust capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to the shareholders, issue new shares or return capital to 
shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes between the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2008 
respectively. 

 The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to keep 
the gearing ratio between 20% and 45%. The Group includes within net debt, loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, hire 
purchases less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent, capital reserves 
and other reserves.

 Group
   2008 2007
     us$’000 us$’000

 Loans and borrowings  62,699 39,125
 Trade and other payables  23,795 45,448
 Hire purchases creditors  1,298 237
 Less : Cash and cash equivalents   (8,847)  (6,733)

 Net debts   78,945 78,077 
 Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  178,685 238,263  

 Capital and net debts  257,630 316,340

 Gearing ratio   31% 25%
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38. segmental information 

 Reporting format

 The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates of returns are affected 
predominantly by differences in the products and services produced. Secondary information is reported geographically. The operating 
businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment 
representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.

 Business segments

 The Construction and property segment is involved in the construction of residential properties and industrial projects and in property 
development.

 The Forestry and pulp segment is engaged in forestry operations and manufacture of wood chips.

 Geographical segments

 The Group’s geographical segments are based on the location of the Group’s assets. Sales to external customers disclosed in 
geographical segments are based on the geographical location of its customers.

 Allocation basis

 Segment results, assets and liabilities include those directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise income tax and deferred tax liabilities.

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008



Annual Report 2008      97   

38. segmental information (cont’d)

 (a) Business segment

  construction forestry
   and property and pulp others elimination consolidated
  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007  

 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

  revenue:            
 Revenue from external             
    Customers 103,611 81,520 10,173 1,337 1 68 – – 113,785 82,925

  Inter segment revenue* – – – – 681 705 (681) (705) – –
 
  Total revenue 103,611 81,520 10,173 1,337 682 773 (681) (705) 113,785 82,925

              

 results:            
 Segment results 2,800 1,757 (76,201) 19,528 (10,092) (7,496) (3,597) 539 (87,090) 14,328

              
 Finance costs         (5,857) (5,175)

  (Loss)/Profit before tax         (92,947) 9,153

  Tax (benefit)/expenses         25,994 (8,236)

  (Loss)/Profit for the year         (66,953) 917

             
  * Inter segment transactions are determined at terms agreed between segments.
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38. segment information (cont’d)

 (a) Business segments (cont’d)

  construction forestry
  and property and pulp others consolidated
  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
  us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

  asset and Liabilities 
  Segment assets 44,988 34,225 264,660 336,525 21,058 28,539 330,706 399,289

  Total assets 44,988 34,225 264,660 336,525 21,058 28,539 330,706 399,289

            
 Segment liabilities 49,597 29,880 29,791 37,367 30,113 25,415 109,501 92,662

  Unallocated liabilities       42,519 68,363

            
 Total liabilities       152,020 161,025

            
 other segment information:

  Capital expenditure 1,823 152 1,242 6,570 63 276 3,128 6,998
  Depreciation of property, plant          

   and equipment 26 303 2,798 1,967 104 166 2,928 2,436 
  Impairment losses – 13  – 25   – – – 38

 (b) Geographical segments
   
  singapore indonesia asia Pacific countries consolidated
  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
  us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 

 
  Total revenue from 

     external customers 103,611 81,581 3,853 109 6,321 1,235 113,785 82,925

            
 Segment assets 44,001 40,937 264,660 336,525 22,045 21,827 330,706 399,289

            
 Capital expenditure 1,886 428 1,242 6,570 – – 3,128 6,998

             

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008
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39. Legal proceedings 

 (i) Poh Lian Development Pte Ltd (“PLD”), the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary has initiated court proceedings in the High 
Court of the Republic of Singapore against Leong Hwa Chan Si Temple (“Leong Hwa”), Hok Mee Property Pte Ltd (“Hok Mee”), 
Hok Chung Construction Co Pte Ltd (“Hok Chung”) and Kek Kim Hok (“KEK”) (together the “Defendants”).  PLD had entered 
into a partnership with Hok Mee and Leong Hwa to develop and manage a columbarium development at Choa Chu Kang, 
Singapore in 1999. PLD’s role in the partnership was mainly to provide financing for the construction of the columbarium. 

  PLD had initiated legal proceedings to recover accountability of receipts and payments from its partners as well as 
overpayments to Hok Chung and/or Kek in respect of the construction of the columbarium, as well seek recovery of a loan 
of US$9.25 million made to the partnership.

  The Defendants have submitted their defence and made counterclaims against PLD for an aggregate sum of approximately 
US$6.25 million which have been rejected by PLD. Based on the legal advice received, the Directors believe that PLD has 
strong defence against the aforesaid claims which are likely to fail in the account of lack of merits or evidence. 

 (ii) The Company has in October 2008 commenced legal proceedings in the New York Court, United States against Merrill Lynch & 
Company, Inc and Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd (Merrill Lynch) for their improper conduct in connection with the Company’s 
efforts to acquire PT Kiani Kertas in Indonesia. The Company is seeking compensations for damages due to, amongst others, 
Merrill Lynch’s breach of contract, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, negligent misrepresentation, 
fraud and fraudulent inducement, breach of fiduciary duty, and tortious interference with contract.  The case is still ongoing 
and the Company’s lawyers in the United States are of the opinion, based on the facts made available to them that there 
are reasonable prospects of succeeding in the above matter

40. Proposed acquisition of Pt KK 

 (i) Acquisition details

  On 20 February 2006, the Company has entered into a novation agreement with Kingsclere Finance Limited (“Kingsclere”), 
Fayola Investment Limited (“Fayola”) and Langass Offshore Inc (“Langass”). Kingsclere is a company owned by a substantial 
shareholder of the Company while Fayola and Langass collectively are the vendors of PT KK. The novation agreement stipulates 
the Company to acquire the entire issued and paid-up share capital and the entire issued and outstanding unconverted 
mandatory convertible bonds of PT KK as at the date of completion of the proposed acquisition from Fayola and Langass. 

  The Company continues to review the various alternatives to either move forward with the proposed acquisition or to seek 
recovery of the amount owed by PT KK.

 (ii) Deferred expenses

  The Company had incurred certain expenses amounting to US$7.5 million as at 31 December 2008 (2007: US$7.2 million) 
which mainly relate to professional fees for due diligence studies, legal fees and retainer fees to professional advisors paid 
in relation to the above proposed acquisition of PT KK. As a matter of prudence, the Company has written off the amount of 
US$7.5 million to the income statement in 2008.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008
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40. Proposed acquisition of Pt KK (cont’d)

 (iii) Advances to PT KK

  The Company managed the operations of PT KK pursuant to Operations Management Agreement (“OMA”) entered into with 
PT KK on 25 July 2005. Under the OMA, the Company injected working capital funding into PT KK, of which US$28.2 million 
remains outstanding as at 31 December 2008 (2007: US$28.2 million). This amount was classified as “Advances to PT KK” 
and included in trade and other receivables on the Balance Sheet of the Group (Note 23). 

  Pursuant to the terms of Share Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) dated 5 December 2005 with the vendors of PT KK, all amounts 
injected by the Company into PT KK are recoverable from PT KK. Alternatively, upon acquisition of PT KK, if any, these amounts 
shall be offset against the purchase consideration. If the SPA is terminated for any reason, the vendors under the SPA are 
required to procure PT KK to refund the amounts injected into PT KK net of recoveries, and failure by PT KK attaches a liability 
on the vendors to make the refund. As with any commercial arrangement of this type a collection risk does exist in connection 
with these amounts. However, the Company believes that such risk has been sufficiently mitigated in the OMA and SPA.

  The Directors of the Company have taken legal advice and continues to view the working capital funding amounting to 
US$28.2 million previously injected into PT KK, pursuant to the OMA and SPA entered into with PT KK on 25 July 2005 and 
the Sales and Purchase Agreement entered into with the shareholders of PT KK on 5 December 2005 as recoverable and 
enforceable.   Among the alternatives, such recovery may be achieved through: (i) mutual commercial arrangement with PT 
KK and/or its shareholders, (ii) legal actions against PT KK and/or its shareholders, and/or (iii) selling of such receivables to 
third parties.

41. events occurring after the balance sheet date

 (i) On 22 January 2009, the Singapore Finance Minister announced the revision in Singapore corporate tax rate from 18% to 
17% with effect from year of assessment 2010. The Company’s deferred tax liability has been computed on the year end 
prevailing tax rate of 18%.

  On the same day, the Singapore Finance Minister also announced the introduction of a Jobs Credit scheme. Under this scheme, 
employers will receive a 12% cash grant on the first SGD$2,500 of each month’s wages for each employee on their Central 
Provident Fund payroll. The Jobs Credit is for one year, and employers will receive the Jobs Credit in 4 payments: March, 
June, September and December 2009. For each payment, employers will receive Jobs Credits on the employees that are on 
their CPF payrolls at the start of the quarter in which payment is made. The wages paid to these employees in the previous 
quarter will be the qualifying wages used to calculate the 12% cash credit that employers will receive.

  According to FRS 10, Events After the Balance Sheet Date, this is a non-adjusting subsequent event and the financial effect 
of the Jobs Credit scheme will be reflected in the 2009 financial statements. 

 (ii) On 16 March 2009, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary - Poh Lian Construction (Pte) Ltd - obtained its commercial license 
issued by the Department of Planning & Economy of Abu Dhabi, UAE. The commercial license allows the newly established 
Poh Lian Construction (Pte) Ltd, Abu Dhabi Branch, to undertake general contracting of civil constructions, enabling the 
Company to enter into and participate in the various construction projects in Abu Dhabi.

 iii) Subsequent to the year end, the Company issued a total of 204,283,067 shares in full settlement of the amount of US$3.6 
million due on the Equity A Series Loan Note issued to Y.A. Global (formerly known as Cornell Capital Partners Offshore, 
LP).

42. authorisation of financial statements 

 The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Direc-
tors dated on 26 March 2009.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
31 December 2008
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Statistics of Shareholdings
as at 11 March 2009

Issued and Fully Paid Up Capital : 351,806,074       

Number of Shares : 2,533,582,795      

Class of Shares : Ordinary

Voting Rights : 1 vote per share      
 
distribution of shareholdings

size of    No. of    
shareholdings  shareholders % No. of shares %

1   -   999 177 1.69 84,944 0.00

1,000   -   10,000 4,460 42.60 20,214,759 0.80

10,001   -   1,000,000 5,698 54.42 535,246,912 21.13

1,000,001  AND ABOVE 135 1.29 1,978,036,180 78.07

TOTAL   10,470 100.00 2,533,582,795 100.00

twenty Largest shareholders

No. Name No. of shares %

1 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD   495,625,932 19.56 

2 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD           415,974,556 16.42 

3 PARAMOUNT ASSETS INVESTMENTS PTE LTD  213,000,000 8.41 

4 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD           89,723,500 3.54 

5 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PTE) LTD  75,535,000 2.98 

6 SBS NOMINEES PTE LTD           51,850,000 2.05 

7 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD    48,435,000 1.91 

8 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD   36,181,000 1.43 

9 DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD        35,426,380 1.40 

10 KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.   35,340,000 1.39 

11 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD  27,132,000 1.07 

12 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD     26,775,328 1.06 

13 TOURBILLION REALTY PTE LTD     24,000,000 0.95 

14 MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD     23,682,000 0.93 

15 DBSN SERVICES PTE LTD          15,476,000 0.61 

16 PARKER VELA ENTERPRISES LTD    13,932,000 0.55 

17 ING NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  13,118,000 0.52 

18 RAFFLES NOMINEES PTE LTD       11,538,000 0.46 

19 LUM CHIN WENG                  11,500,000 0.45 

20 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED        10,469,000 0.41 

totaL  1,674,713,696 66.10 
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Statistics of Shareholdings
as at 11 March 2009

suBstaNtiaL sHareHoLders

Substantial Shareholders as per Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 11 March 2009

  direct interest  deemed interest
Name   No of share % No of share %

Paramount Assets Investments Pte Ltd 211,000,000 8.33 - -

Tektronix Industries Ltd 1 3,764,284 0.15 696,841,030 27.50

Wisanggeni Lauw 2 10,000,000 0.39 242,438,958 9.57

Lee Pineapple Company (Pte) Limited 3 - - 211,000,000 8.33

Notes:

1. 696,841,030 shares are held through DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd and UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd.

2. 242,438,958 shares are held through DBS Vickers Securities Pte Ltd, UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd, United Overseas Bank Nominees and SBS 
Nominees Pte Ltd. Mr Wisanggeni Lauw is deemed to have an interest in the shares held by Acasia Limited and his spouse in Adriatic 
Assets Limited by virtue of the provisions under Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

3. By virtue of Lee Pineapple Company (Pte) Limited’s shareholding in Paramount Assets Investment Pte Ltd, it is deemed to be interested 
in the shares of the Company held by Paramount Assets Investment Pte Ltd.

PerceNtaGe of sHareHoLdiNG iN PuBLic’s HaNds

Based on the information made available to the Company as at 11 March 2009, approximately 52.69% of the Company shares were held in 
the hands of the public. Under Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, a listed issuer must ensure that at least 10% of its listed securities 
are at all times held by the public.



Annual Report 2008      103   

Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of United Fiber System Limited (“the Company”) will be held at 168 Robinson 
Road, Capital Tower, FTSE Room (Level 9), Singapore 068912, on 24 April 2009 at 9:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

as ordiNarY BusiNess

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 
 31 December 2008 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.  (resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 107 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company:

 Mr Chia Quee Hock (resolution 2)
 Mr Ang Mong Seng (resolution 3)
 [See Explanatory Note (i)]

3. To record the retirement of Mr Ho Yew Yuen, a Director who will be retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 
107 of the Articles of Association of the Company. [see explanatory Note (ii)]

4. To re-appoint Mr Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström, a Director of the Company retiring under Section 153(6) 
of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, to hold office from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the next

 Annual General Meeting of the Company. [See Explanatory Note (iii)]  (resolution 4)

5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$233,068 for the year ended 31 December 2008 (previous
 year: S$219,110). (resolution 5)

6. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the
 Company to fix their remuneration. (resolution 6)

7. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting. 

as sPeciaL BusiNess

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution, with or without any 
modifications:

8. authority to issue new shares 
 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to: 

 (a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/
or

  (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 
require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

   at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

 (b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue 
shares pursuant to any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this 
Resolution was in force,
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 provided that:

 (1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, 
made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed 
fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of  issued shares in the capital of the Company (as 
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares 
and Instruments to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company 
shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the 
Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

 (2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the 
aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of 
issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at 
the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for: 

   (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise or any convertible securities;
   (b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding and 

subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and 
    (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

 (3) the 50% limit in sub-paragraph (1) above may be increased to 100% for the Company to undertake 
pro-rata renounceble rights issues;  

 (4) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions 
of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been 
waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association of the Company; and 

 (5) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in 
  force (i) until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by 
  which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is

  earlier. [See Explanatory Note (iv)]                                                                       (resolution 7)

9. authority to issue shares other than on a pro-rata basis pursuant to the aforesaid share issue 
mandate at discounts not exceeding twenty per centum (20%) to the weighted average price for 
trades done on the sGx-st

 That the Directors be hereby authorised and empowered to issue shares other than on a pro-rata basis 
pursuant to the aforesaid share issue mandate at a discount not exceeding twenty per centum (20%), to 
the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement 
or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is executed, (or if not available for a full market day, 
the weighted average price must be based on the trades done on the preceding market day up to the time 
the placement or subscription agreement is executed) provided that:

 (1) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Directors complies with the provisions 
of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been 
waived by the SGX-ST); 
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 (2) unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority shall continue in force 
until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

  [See Explanatory Note (v)] (resolution 8)

By Order of the Board

Lim Ka Bee 
Secretary
Singapore, 8 April 2009

explanatory Notes:

(i) Mr Ang Mong Seng will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as member of the Audit Committee, Chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee and will be considered independent.

(ii) Mr Ho Yew Yuen will retire as a Director of the Company at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting. As such, he will 
concurrently ceased to be Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Nominating Committee. The appointment of his replacement 
for each committee will be announced in due course. 

(iii) The effect of the Ordinary Resolution (4) proposed in item (4) above, is to re-appoint a director of the Company who is over 70 
years of age.

(iv) The Ordinary Resolution (7) in item (8) above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this Meeting 
until the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is 
the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such instruments, up 
to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% 
may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company. The 50% limit referred to in the preceding 
sentence may be increased to 100% for the Company to undertake pro-rata renouceable rights issue. 

 For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares in the capital of the Company 
will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary Resolution is 
passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities, the 
exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed 
and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

 The 100% renounceable pro-rata rights issue limit is one of the new measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated in a press 
release entitled “SGX introduces further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 and which became effective 
on 20 February 2009. It will provide the Directors with an opportunity to raise funds and avoid prolonged market exposure by 
reducing the time taken for shareholders’ approval, in the event the need arises. Minority shareholders’ interests are mitigated as 
all shareholders have equal opportunities to participate and can dispose their entitlements through trading of nil-paid rights if they 
do not wish to subscribe for their rights shares.  It is subject to the condition that the Company makes periodic announcements on 
the use of the proceeds as and when the funds are materially disbursed and provides a status report on the use of proceeds in the 
annual report.
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(v) The Ordinary Resolution (8) in item (9) above is pursuant to measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated in a press release entitled 
“SGX introduces further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 and which became effective on 20 February 
2009. Under the measures implemented by the SGX-ST, issuers will be allowed to undertake non pro-rata placements of new shares 
priced at discounts of up to 20% to the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for a full market day on which the 
placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is executed, subject to the conditions that (a) shareholders approval 
be obtained in a separate resolution (the “Resolution”) at a general meeting to issue new shares on a non pro-rata basis at discount 
exceeding 10% but not more than 20%; and (b) that the resolution seeking a general mandate from shareholders for issuance of 
new shares on a non pro-rata basis is not conditional upon the Resolution.

 It should be noted that under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, shareholders’ approval is not required for placements of new shares, 
on a non pro-rata basis pursuant to a general mandate, at a discount of up to 10% to the weighted average price for trades done 
on the SGX-ST for a full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is executed. 

Notes:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to 
attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

 
2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 47 Scotts Road, #07-03/04 Goldbell 

Towers, Singapore 228233 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
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Proxy Form
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

!
uNited fiBer sYsteM LiMited
Company Registration No. 199508589E
(Incorporated In The Republic of Singapore)

iMPortaNt:

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy United Fiber System Limited’s 
shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved Nominees 
and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all 
intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must submit their 
requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specified. If 
they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions to the CPF Approved 
Nominees within the time frame specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.

Total number of Shares in:       No. of Shares

(a)  CDP Register

(b)  Register of Members

I/We,   

of  

being a member/members of United Fiber System Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint: 

  Proportion of shareholdings   

  

and/or (delete as appropriate)

  Proportion of shareholdings   

  

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for 
me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held at 168 Robinson Road, Capital Tower, 
FTSE Room (Level 9), Singapore 068912 on 24 April 2009 at 9:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies 
to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the 
event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/
her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “for” or “against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)

No.  resolutions relating to:  for against

 1 Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008  

2  Re-election of Chia Quee Hock as a Director (Article 107)  

3 Re-election of Ang Mong Seng as a Director (Article 107)  

4 Re-appointment of Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström as a Director  

5 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$233,068  

6 Re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors   

7 Authority to issue new shares  

8 Authority to issue new shares other than on a pro-rate basis at a discount not exceeding 20%  

Dated this  day of  2009
    

      
      

Signature of Shareholder(s)    
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder   
 
* Delete where inapplicable

No. of shares %

No. of shares %

Name 

address

Nric/Passport No.

Name 

address

Nric/Passport No.
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Proxy Form

Notes :

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as 
defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares 
registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares entered against 
your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate 
number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no 
number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend 
and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her sharehold-
ing (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the Meeting. 
Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, and in such event, 
the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at   47 Scotts Road, #07-03/04 
Goldbell Towers, Singapore 228233 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.  
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the 
hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf 
of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act 
as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or 
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing 
a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a 
proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 
as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.



VISION
Our vision is to become a major player in the international 
market pulp industry.

Working within international compliance standards, we will 
focus on delivering high quality materials and products, 
keeping environmental responsibility and sustainability 
our top priorities across all our business operations. We 
will leverage on the experience of our management  and 
employees to further develop our presence in this region 
and  continue to seek opportunities to create value for all 
our stakeholders.
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